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COURT OF QUEEN'S BENCH ~ 
CROWN SIDE. ' S KAMOURASKA. 

Present: PANET, Justice. 

]852. 
~ REGINA, 

l BERUBE ET UX. 
vs. 

UPON INDICTMENT FOR lVluRDER BY POISONING. 

November Term 1852. 

Held :-That the description given 
by a person of his sufferings, while 
labounng under disease and in pain, is 
not deem~d hearsay evidence, and may 
be admitted as original evidence. 

The prisoner, Cesan,e Theriault, was 
arrested by the constable Chabot, and 
while in his custody and in his house, 
Gauvreau, 11. Magistrate, came in, and 
said in her presence, " She had better 
turn Queen's evidence," to which Cha­
bot answered, " There are some preli­
minal'S proceedings to be adopted 
before ." 

Held' :-That confessions made sub­
sequently, on the same day, by the pri­
soner, to Chabot, to his wife, and .to 
another constable, were not admissible 
in evidence, inasmuch as the prisoner 
was in the custody of these people, 
when Gauvreau spoke to her, and in· 
asmurh as she might be under the 
influence of the hope held out to her by 
tile said Gauvreau; 

That confessions made the next day 
to Chabot, while going to prison, were 
not for the same reasons, admissible 
in evidence; 

That a confession made the same 
day that Gauvreau spoke to the pri­
soner, to a Physician, having no au­
thority over the prisoner, and without 
the presence of the Peace Officer, is 
admissible in evidence; 

That a Child, whatever his age may 
be, can be examined as a witness, 
if he can distinguish between goou and 
evil. 

J nge :-Que Ia description qa'une 
personne malade fait de ses souffrances 
peut etre rapporlee comme une preuve 
origineIle, et ne doit pas eire consideree 
comme un oul-dire. 

La prisonniere Cesaree Theriault, 
avait ete arretee par Ie constable Cha­
bot,et tandis qU'elle etait sons sagarde et 
en sa demeure, Gauvreau, lln I1Iagistrat, 
entra et dit en sa presence: " Elle ferait 
mieux de se renure temoin de Ia Reine," 
a quoi Chabot rerondit: " II Y a des 
formalites preliminaires a suivre d'a­
bard ;" 

Juge :-Que les avemc faits Ie meme 
jour par Ia prisonniere a Chabot, a sa 
femme et a un autre constable, ne pou­
vaient pas etre admis comme preuve, 
vu que Ia prisonniere eta it SallS la 
garde de ces personnes, quand Gauvreau 
lui adressa Ia parole, p( vu qu'elle pou­
vait encore etre SallS l'influence de l'es­
poir que Gauvreau lui avait fait entre­
voir' 
Q~e des aveux faits Ie jour suivant 

a Chabot, iorsqu'on la conduisait en 
prison, ne pouvaient etre admis ell 
preuve pour les memes raisons; 

Que les aveux faits par Ia prisonniere, 
Ie meme jOLlr que Gauvreau lui avait 
parle, a un Medecin qui n'avait sur dIe 
aucune autori!e, et hors de la presence 
des OiHciers de ·Paix, pouvaient etre 
prouves; 

Qu'un Enfant quelque soit son age, 
peut ~tre examine comme temoin, s'il 
peut distmguer entre Ie bien et Ie mal. 

At the sittings of the Court of Queen's Bench, Crown side, 
held at Kamouraska, in November 1852, one Joseph Bembe 
and Cesaree Theriault, his wife, were tried upon a charge of 

1* 
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murder by poisoning, committed upon the person of one Sophie 
Talbot, the first wifc of Berube. The poisons alleged to 
have been administered were phosphorus and arsenious acid 
or white arsenic. The crime was :,;tated to have been perpe­
trated during the month of October 1851: Sophie Talbot 
died during the night of Wednesday, the 29th October, 185], 

after five days illness. 

Joseph Berube was a farmer, aged about 45, who had 
settlcd formerly in the parish of l'Isle Verte, in the fourth 
Concession, and about 1849 had removed to the Township 
of Viger, situate in the real' of the said parish. His family 
consisted of his wife, Sophie Talbot, to whom he had 
been married [01' more than twelve years, and of three child­
ren, the eldest of whom was not more than eleven 01' twelve 
years old. In his immediate neighbourhood, lived with her 
fathcr, Cesaree Theriault, a young woman of about 15 or 16 
years of age, who soon became his paramour,-and who 
appears to have been the occasion of the crime attributed to 

the prisoners. 

At the timc of Sophie Talbot's death, vague suspICIOns 
attached to the prisoners, which suspicions were encreased 
by the circumstance of their marriage which took place two 
months afterwards,-until a Coroner's inquest, the examina­

tion of the body of thc deceased, and the evidence adduced 
by several witnesses, led to the arrest of the prisoners on the 
2nd day of April, 1852, and SUbsequently to their trial and 
condemnation. 

The following synopsis of the evidence adduced before 
th~ jury will make known the circumstances of this heinous 
crlllle. 
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ABSTRACT OF EVIDENCE: 

Marceline Beaulieu :-Sophie Talbot is seized with sudden 
illness on saturday, 25th October, 1851, complains of unusual 
pains in the stomach-vomits and· makes repeated eflorts to 
vomit-next day same complaints-kept continually rising 
from her bed and lying down again-complains of palpita­
tion of the heart and pains in her bowels-both prisoners 
were then present-said in his presence that her husband had 
sent for rum to warm her. Tuesday, witness sent for at the 
request of Berube-Mrs. Berube said in presence of her 
husband, that she had vomited blood the day before-that 
between sunday and monday her husband had given her 
some punch which did her no good-that on monday, she had 
vomited blood-complained of pains in her arms, loins and 
bowels-and of coliqnes-thick and clotted blood constantly 
flowing from her mouth-continued reaching, with little or 
no effect-complained of pains in her loins, in her sides and 
in all her limbfl-palpitation of the heart, &c. Wednesday, 
same complaints, vomiting &c.-she became worse-was 
sinking-at 11 P. M. Berube came for witness, stating that 
his wife was very ill and that she raved-asked for a feather 
bed as his wife's bed was not comfortable-found hcr wry 
ill-she died at midnight. Berube visited Cesaree Theriault's 
father's house very often-almost every evening and every 
day, and at all hours of the day-for a year since witness has 
lived there. Cesaree Theriault went sometimes to Berube, 
but not very often-Berube went oftener after the death of 
his wife to Theriault's-went next day after the funeral. 

Fabien Boule-was present for half an hour before Mrs. 

Berube died-Berube was not there-Berube went often to 
Theriault's-no rats in the Town~hip of Viger-new settle­
ment-Sophie Talbot healthy woman-no rats in 4th Range 
either. 

William Jarvis.-In September 1851, Berube wanted to 
purchase arsenic at witness' store, at Green Island) for the 
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return and told me it was a small box of peppermints which 
her beau Amable Ouellet had sent to her. Sometime after 
this durinO" the same day, I saw the prisoner Berube, and I 
ask~d him bwhat was the box which he had given to Cesaree 

Theriault. He made no answer. Sometime after I met 

him and he took me aside, he told me not to speak of that , 
box to anyone. The same day, Cesaree Theriault told me 
she would shew me the box. She did not shew it 10 me. 

She told me when I asked her to shew it to me that she had 

hidden it in the stump of a tree. 

Pierre Chabot, Bailiff-Had the female prisoner in cnstody 

in his house, on the 3d April.-He did not threaten her in 

any way-the prisoner made a confession to him. Mr. N: 
Gauvreau, magistrate, had come to his (witness') house and 
had said to Cesaree Theriault, that according to the pr.?of 
made before the Coronel' she had better turn Queen's evi­

dence, (she could not be Queen's evidence, Ed.) witness then 
said to Mr. Gauvreau, that in his opinion that was not the 
time to speak of that, and that certain formalities had to be 
gone through first.Mr. Gauvreau went away and she made no 
confession then. About an hour after I learned that she had 

made admissions to my wife. I held out no promise or 
threat to her and she made me a confession then. 

(Confession rttled out on the gro'llnd that she might have 
been influenced by what Mr. Gauvreau had said to he?", he 
being a person in authority, and the confession being made to 
persons in whose custody the prisoner was.) 

Witness arrested the female prisoner in a bam, in the 
township of Viger, where after searching for about an hour, 
they found he~" concealed in a heap of hay;-on our way 
down she saId that she had heard that her sister Genoffe 
had made a strong deposition against her before the Coro­
ner. She added: "It is (/ great misfortune to be taken 
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prisoner; I did not know what I was doing; he gave 
"me to understand that there was no sin in it." I said 
to her: "you ought to know that if you did any harm 
"it was a sin."-She answered-" he gave me to un-
" derstand that he would procure me my pardon." (This was 
said before she saw Mr. Gauvreau. Ed.) On our way from 
St. Andre to Kamouraska, on the sunday, while in the 
'voiture between my assistant and myself, she began to 
cry; upon asking her why she cried, she said to me-
" It is what I said about the little box that makes me unhappy." 
( said to her: He told you then that it was poison that was in 
it? Is it true that you put some into the preserves ?-(The 
answer of the prisoner is objected to as being a continuation of 
the admissions made after the expressions made use of by Mr .. 
Gauvreau; 1'uled out on the ground that the influence of ]J[r. 
Gauvreau's expressions might still subsist, and that the wit­
ness, (the bailiff Chabot,) being considm'ed a person in 
authority, was present when they were uttered by Mr. Gau­
vreau.) 

Germain Talbot.- The brother of Sophie Talbot-lived as 
a servant with Berube before and at the time of his sister's 
death-some days before her death she complained of head 
ache-did not see her vomit-worked outside-The sunday 
before she died, Berube sent me for some rum to warm her­
I gave it to him saying: here is the rum for my sister who is 
sick-He said: very well-I will prepare it. (Je vais faire 
de quai avec.) He had something in his hands, but I did not 
see what it was. He prepared the rum, (fit quelque chose 
avec) and gavc it to my sister.-When my sister received the 
preserves which had been brought to her by Genoffe The­

riault, she said to Berube in my presence-" It is very odd 
" that they should have sent me preserves in this way; I did 
not ask for any thing,"-upon which he said-" But do you 
" think they would be wicked enough to put any thing in them 
" that would do you harm? 
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I have been threatened by Augustin Theriault, the father 
of the female prisoner, in the presence of Berube, as fol­

lows :-He came to the prisoner's bam where I was, 
and J was going to the prisoner's house, were the latter 
was. He (Augustin TMriault) said to me : "Is it true 
" that it is ,yon who let ont (evente) tltat we had given some­
"Jhing fo yonr sister to poison her?" I told him no !­
that people suspected it on account of the preserves which 
had been sent from his house, and that the people said that 
it was I who had said so. He said to me : "I forbid you to 
" ~jleak of it because I will have you brought before the 
" Criminal Court-upon that Berube said-speaking of me-

0" we rnnst have him taken up." Sometime after this I asked 
Berube what was the meaning of what he then said to me­
He said: "It means not to spread th at report-as little as you 
" can-if you do, look out for yourself." 

When the body of the deceased had left the house, Cesaree 
Theriault came to it, and Berube said to her-" Here are 
" my children who are left alone,-will you take care of 
" them, while I go down to the funeral."-They then con­
versed together for sometime, but I did not hear what they 
said-Cesaree Theriault then remained in the house-I do 
not know whether Cesaree Theriault came to the house 
during the illness of the deceased, but she came often to it 
while her body was still there. 

Cross examined: 

Has been in the 4th range-never saw any rats there. 
Narcisse-Illegitimate child of Augustin Theriault and the 

woman Julie Ouellet. 

Interrogated by the JUdge: 

Q. How old are you? 

A. I will be six years old in the month of January. 
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Q. Do you know what an oath is? 

A. I do not understand that. 

Q. Have you learned your Catechism? 

A. No,-but I am going to learn it. 

Q. Is there a God? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you know what it is to tell truth? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Where are people punished who do not tell the truth? 

A. In Hell. 

Q. Are people likewise punished in this world? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What prayers have you learned? 

A. I do not understand that. 

Q. Do you say your prayers sometimes? 

A. Yes, in the evening-before going to bed, and also in 
the morning-I say a part by myself, and my mother repeats 
the remainder to me. 

Q. Is it a sin to tell a falsehood upon oath? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Where will you be punished if you do not tell the 
truth upon oath? 

A. In Hell, and I might also be punished in this world. 

Ordered to be sworn and examined: 

I know Berube and Cesaree Theriault who is my sister­
Berube and my sister met together-I do not remember 
where it was-It is a long time ago-I remember seeing 
a smaU box-It was Berube who brought it and he gave it to 
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my sister.-I saw a little bit of it like t~at-(shewi~g t~e 
points of his fingers,) I wanted to see the httle b.ox-C~saree 
put it into the pocket of her dress. I told my sIster Genoffe 
Theriault that I had seen Berube giving the small box and 
I said so in presence of PhilomEme Boule and a child of 
Fabien Boule.-The box in question was given in our house. 
There was no one but Cesaree and myself in the house when 
Berube gave the little box. They spoke of Julie Ouellet, 
and Julie Ouellet is my mother.-They wished to kill her­
I told this to my mother in company with Montrealiste 
(another child living in the same house); they said they 
wished to kill her by poison. 

Cross examined; 

He is asked how long it is since he knows that there 
is a God-Answers-He has known it for five days.-I know 
what a sin is. He who commits a sin goes to hell.-I have 
not committed a sin, in doing what I have done just now. 

Justine Talbot, wife of Elie Gagnon, went to see the 
deceased on Wednesday, the day she died.-FabiAn Boule 
and \vife and Germain Talbot were present-Berube was 
there also, but he went away z'n the course of the evening. 
I was not there when she died-I went away because the 
approach of death and the sufferings of the deceased terriiied 
me-I was then enceinte-I remained there about two or 
three hours-The deceased was then in bed-She told me 
she suffered much; she made me place my hand on her heart 
that I might feel how her heart beat. 

Solomee Morin, wife of Michel Theriault ;-1 went to see 
Sophie Talbot the day she died-Fabien Boule's wife was 
there, and two of Boule's children-Berube was not there­
The deceased was very ill-we O'ave her tea which she 

. d ::> 
Von1ltte easily-also bread, but she could not swallow it-
chewed it and threw it out. 
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G€moftc Theriault in my presence asked Berube if it was 
true that he !tad poisoned his wtfe as people said-He made 
some answer, I think, but I did not hear what he said. UpOll 
this he hung down his head. On this occasion GenotTc 
Theriault said to him that Germain Talbot hau said, in Beru­
be's father's house, that the preserves which Cesaree Theriault 
had sent to the deceased had made her very sick, (lui avait 
tombe SUT le ClEUl',) Cesaree Theriault was then present dur­
ing the conversation and said notlting. 

Julic Ouellet-the mother of the boy Narcisse confirmed 
what the boy had said in his evidence, viz: that he told her 
that he had seen Joseph Berube give a small box to Cesaree 
Theriault. 

Lambert Ouellet-identifies the body. 

Amable Ouellet.-Knows Sophie Talbot-died about All 
Saint's day, last year-gave no box lo the male prisoner 
about that tinw, and sent no box to CesaTee The1'iault-gave 
no peppennints to BeTube jar Cesaree Ther'iault, and nevel' 
sent any to CesaTee Theriault-knew Cesaree Theriault and 
had spoken to her abottl it-had asked her in marriage about 
two months before the death of Sophic Talbot. He waC' 
known to be the cavalie1' of Cesaree Theriault, and knows 
no other person who bears his name. 

Cross examined: 

It was generally said (il passe) that there were rats in the 
4th range where I lived for a long time. 

Berube, to my knowledge, lived on good terms with his 

latc wife. 

Re-examined : 

I gave up courting Cesaree Theriault about fifteen days 

before the death of Sophie Talbot. 
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Ed. Peltier.-Knows that there was an intiml;tcy between 
BeruM and Cesaree Theriault; about three years and a half 
ago BEn·uM and I lodged in the house of Augustin Theriault, 
about the month of March, at that period, I had my bed on a 
paillasse on the floor along with Berube. He got up and I 
saw him lay himself across Cesaree Theriault's bed. I men­
tioned this to other8-1 spoke of it to her father-after this 

the two prisoners continued to see each other often. 

Cross examined: 

When Berube went to Cesaree Theriault's bed I think 
that her sister Genoife was in bed with her. 

Felicite Peltier.-Lived in the 4th range III the house 
which Berube had iu that place from the 15th June to har­
vest-time last year-about three weeks before her death the 
deceased was sick at the 4th range to which she had gone 
down-said she had bowel complaint and was sick at the 
stomach-it nearly overcame her aud she vomited often 
with forced reaching-the vomiting lasted about two days. 
I was in the house when she took sick-It was, as far as I 
can recollect about St. Michel's day (29th September) the 
same day on which she came down from the township­
she was seized in the evening, and on the following day she 
was worse, :and vomited. Next day, or the day after, 
her husband came to see her-he arrived in the evening and 
left the following morning-she got better, and returned to 
the township-she supposed it was cold which she had 
caught. 

Cross examined: 

Gave her rum and hot water during this sickness-it did 
her good. 

There are a great many rats in the 4th range. 
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THE FOLLOWING IS THE EVIDENCE OF THE MEDICAL MEN: 

Charles Timothe DuM, of Trois Pistoles, Physician :-In 
the month of April of last year, (1851,) I was called upon 
by the Coroner to examine the body of a woman, said to be 
Sophie Talbot, the wife of Joseph B{wubC. I was assisted 
by Dr. Desjardins.-I myself opened the coffin in a room of 
the old Presbytery of L'Isle-Verte, in the pre·sence of the 
Coroner, of the jury, and of Dr. Desjardins. Having 
opened the coffin, 1he corpse was laid upon the cover of the 
coffin, the Coroner then asked if any body could recognize 
the deceased, upon which Mrs. Fabien Boule came forward 
and said she recognized her by a scar she had upon the 
cheek, and Dr. Desjardins stated as much. I observed 
myself that there was a scar upon one of the cheeks of the 
deceased. The corpse having been identified, we proceeded 
to the examination. 

Upon opening the thorax and the upper part of the 
abdomen, I immediately perceived a very strong smell of 
garlic. To become certain that this smell. proceeded from 
the stomach, I immediately opened it, and the same smell of 
garlic then became stronger. I observed upon different parts 
of the stomach, particularly towards the cardiacal part, near 
the wind pipe, some red spots which indicated that inflama­
tion had taken place. In the middle of some of these spots, 
'there were small white ones. Some of these "'pots were 
erosions or burns of the mucous membrane of the stomach. 
The small intestines also denoted by their interior that there 
had been inflammation. The colon, the first of the large in­
testines, was in about its natural state, but the upper part of 
the re~tum, the last large intestine, was ulcerated and almost 
entirely out of order. The liver was in about its ordinary 
state. The biliary vessicle was in its natural state. The 
lungs were filled with blood and had black spots on them. 

The heart was in its natural state. 
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The strong smell of garlic indicates the presence of phos­
phoru"J which is a deleterious substance and a very active 
poison. It is the principal ingredient in Smith's Exterminat01'. 
This composition is very hurtful and very dangerous to 
human life, very little is required to poison a person. The 
small white specks, seen in the middle of the spots, indicate 

the presence of arsenic. 

From the examination alone of the body, apart from the 
symptoms of the disease described by the witnesses, I am 
of opinion that the deceased Sophie Talbot died of a disease 
which took its origin from a cause foreign to the animal 
organisation, that is to say, that some foreign substance 

must have produced it, and that substance must have been 
somcthing corrosive or il'l'itating. To the best of my know­
ledge and according to my observation I believe that phos­
phorus and arsenic were taken. 

I did not remark upon the deceased any trace of any pre_ 
existing organic disease, except the traces of acute inflamma­
tion which I ha\'e mentioned. 

I put into a vial a part of what I found in the interior of 
the stomach: it was a slimy secretion deposited upon the 
coat of the stomach. I took the vial home with me and 
sealed it with my seal. I always kept it under lock and 
key, and I have sincc brought it with me to Kamouraska. 
Last thursday evening I opened the vial myself and gave it 
to Dr. Jackson. He put half of the contents into a crucible 
and added a little rain water and chloric acid. He placed 
this over a lamp with spirits of wine, and heated it to the 
boiling point, which had the effect of making the organic 
matter coagulate. After this he filtered the contents through 
a filtering paper, so as to separate the organic matter. The 
ren~ains of what had been filtered were placed in another 
crucible and put over the fire. A few minutes after Dr. 
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Jackson threw into it two small pieces of very bright and 
very clean copper. After a few moments and when the 
whole had commenced to boil, the pieces of copper became 
of a lead colour. This lead colour indicated the presence of 
arsenic. To convince ourselves that this lead colour was 
not produced by the water or the chloric acid, we boiled 
another piece of copper in a mixture of water and chloric 
acid, and the copper remained perfectly bright. For the 
last test we used the same water and the same acid that we 
had used for the first operation. It was at night that this 
was done. This test is known as the test of Reinsch, it is 

one of the strongest ones to discover the presence of arsenic. 

In consequence of the natme of phosphorus and the long 
time that had elapsed since the burial (5 months) it was im­
possible to ascertain the presence of phosphol'l1s by any 

chemical process. Phosphorus is a substance which dis­
appears. Arsenic is a metallic substance which can be 
discovered a very longtime after the burial. 

J found the stomach and the intestines empty. 

I have heard the evidence of Marceline Beaulieu, wife of 
Fabien Boule, first witness examined in this matter. Vomiting 
such as that described by this witness, as having occurred 
to the deceased, could have had the effect of rejecting all 
the arsenic she might have taken. According to the i"vmp­
toms described by this witness, the immediate cause of Jeath 
is inflammation of the stomach, and this inflammation must 
have been caused by some substance foreign to the organi­
sation, among these symptoms some con-espond to those of 
poisoning caused by an irritating substance, and several of 
the symptoms are those produced by poisoning from arsenic. 

I saw the prisoner at Green Island the day after the 

Coroner's inquest, the third of April last. 
2 



18 

She was at the house of one Chabot, a Bailiff, I spoke to 
her in the presence of Dr. Desjardins, and we were alone 
with her. She told me something relating to the matter which 
is the cause of this trial. J did not make any promise 01' 

threat to her. Dr. Desjardins did not speak to her at all. 
This took place at about two o'clock in the afternoon. Pro­
bably the prisoner did not know that I was a physician. 
The only question I put to her was this: " How did this 
"unhappy occurrence take place?" Mr. Gauvreau the 
Maaistrate was not then in the house. I am under the im-

b 

pression that he had seen the prisoner before, but I have no 

personal knowledge of it. 

(The proof of the avowals thal the prisoner may have made 
is objected to on the PCl1't ojthe dejence, beca'use it is pretended 
that those avowals were made after the words spoken by the 
JWagistmte Ga'lwreau, and which are 1"epeated by the witness 
Chabot. The o~jection is set aside by tlte judge, ~tpon the 
ground, that Dt". DuM had no authority !Jver the prisoner, 
and tltat no person in met/writy was tlien present.) 

After I had said to her: " How did this unfortunate occur­
" rence take place? the prisoner said to me : He gave me 
" a small tin box covered with paper which was pasted over 
" to keep the cover on. I opened it : it was nearly rose colom, 
" as hard as tallow : I put some three times with the 
" blade of a knife, into the preserves, and each time that I 
" took it, it smoked." 

I asked her if she had put much of it ; she told me that she 
had only put a little : this was all she told me, and I did not 
wish to know more. She cried a great deal. 

The substance, of which the prisoner spoke to me, answers 

to Smith's Exterminator, the surface of it is nearly of a rose 
or flesh colour. The Exterminator is sold in boxes covered 
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with paper which is pasted. When any of it is taken out, a 
light smoke rises from it. 

Examined on the part of the defence : 

I never analysed Smith's Exterminator. Phosphorus, 
when exposed in the dark, becomes luminous, and when it 
is a longtime closed up, it acquires a reddish colour. I do 
not know if earth contains arsenic. There is phosphorus in 
the human system, not in its natural state, but in the state of 
phosphate of lime. The quantity of arsenic discovered by 
the experiment is not sufficient to take away life. 

There are diseases which very nearly appeal' to be caused 
by poisoning. Gastritis appears very like poisoning. In 
this disease there is vomiting, palpitation of the heart, but 
not always colics. In these diseases you rarely, if ever, 
meet with the indications I have pointed out as denoting 
poisoning. The white spots, of which f have spoken, may 
possibly be found in the stomach of a person who has died 
without having been poisoned. These spots are then of a 
greasy substance; but those which I found were too hard for 
that. These white spots, when they are not arsenic, disap"' 
pear when submitted to the action offire, but when they are 
arsenic, they evaporate and give out a smell of garlic. 

J never opened the body of a person who died of in flamm a­

tion of the stomach. In the present instance I do not think 
that the deceased was of a sufficiently strong temperament to 
produce the traces of inflammation which I found. I did not 
know the deceased, but from the examination I made of the 

body, I could judge of her temperament. The traces of 

inflammation which follow gas'tritis are not so distinct as those 
J have mentioned. In'gastritis the vascular system is dilated, 

the mucous membrane is of a reddish colour, bnt there are 
no spots and erosions such as those which I remarked, and 
the cesophagus is less affected than the remainder, 

2* 
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Gastritis or inflammation of the stomach may be produced 
by a sudden change of temperature, or by injecting a cold 
liquid into the stomach while in a state of perspiration. 

I do not think that, supposing the deceased had eaten 
garlic before her death, the smell of it could be discovered 

:five months after. 

Among the symptoms described, there are some which are 
peculiar to poisoning by arsenic, such as the contraction at the 
upper part of the <:esophagus, accompanied by burnings 
which prevented the deceased from swallowing solid food. 

Re-examined on the part of the prosecution. 

Arsenic may easily enter into the composition of Smith's 
.Exterminator, together with phosphorus. 

Hospice Desjardins, of Isle Verte, Physician :-1 was pre­
sent at the post 1nortern examination of the body of Sophie 
Talbot; I knew her well during her lifetime, I had been her 
medical attendant, and I knew her at once by her features 
and also by a scar she carried upon one side of her face.-This 
witness corroborates every part of Dr. Dube's testimony. He 
states as his opinion, founded upon the inspection of the body 
of the deceased and the symptoms of the sickness such as 
described by the witnesses, namely, Marceline Beaulieu,­
that Sophie Talbot, died from a severe inflammation of the 
:stomach occasioned by the swallowing of an extraneous 
irritating substance, which must necessarily have belonged to 
the class of poisons called corrosive poisons. The witness 
identifies the remains of the deceased submitted to the 
experiments, and corroborate~ the confession made to Dr. 
Dube.-He speaks of the white spots found on the stomach 
of the deceased as being arsenic. 

Alfred Jackson, of the City of Quebec, Physician and Sur­
geon :-1 am the lecturer on Chemistry at the Quebec Medi-
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cal School, and have been so [.')1' the last four years. Since my 
arrival here Dr. Dube has plaeed in my hands a vial contain­
ing substances which he stated were taken from the stomach 
of the late Sophie Talbot, the quantity \vas small, about two 
teaspoonful. This I divided into two equal parts, and sub­
mitted one to what is known as Rein:-sch's te:;;t : I introduced 
the organic matters into a porcelain capsule, a vef'sel made 
expressly for such experiments, and added pure water and 
hydrochloric acid: I boiled the contents of the capsule for 
about twenty minutes, to coagulate and destroy the organic 
matters, then filtered the wh'lle by means of ordinary filtering 
paper. The liquid was again heated, and when neal' the 
boiling point, two slips of copper with bright and polished sur­
face, were introduced in it. I continued to boil the liquid, and 
after some minutes perceived that the copper had changed 
colour; it assumed the colour of lead or of polished iron. The 
process of boiling was continued for about twenty minutes, 
the slips of copper were then taken out, washed in pure 
water, and dried by means of filtering paper: they were 
then examined, but as it was evening, and the f'ueceeding 
steps of the experiment are of a very delicate nature, they 
were put off until the following day. 

The change of colour was indicative of the presence of a 
metal in solution, and w"as such as might be produced by 
the presence of arsenic; but as there are other metals that 
cause a similar change of colour, I took the means in ordi­
nary use to ascertain that in this instance it was due to the 
presence of arsenic" I introduced the slips of copper into a 
reduction test-tube, and submitted them to the heat of a 
spirit lamp. The heat soon disengaged the coating, which 
had previously covered it, from the surface of the copper. 

As this coating was very thin, the result of the experiment 
was the production of a small quantity of a whitish sublimate 
that adhered to the internal surface of the tube. I recognized 
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in the deposit the appearance yielded by arsenic under simi­
lar circumstances. The quantity was not sufficient to enable 
me to submit it to very satisfactory tests. Nevertheless, in a 
solution ti·eated by means of the ammonia-nitrate of silver, a 
very delicate test, I recognized the kind of precipitate yielded 
by arsenious acid, under similar circumstances. 

I took some of the same water, and of the same acid used 
in the previous experiment, and submitted another piece of 
copper to the same kind of treatment, minus th~ contents of 
the vial: it remained perfectly bright. This proved that the 
substance which had discolored the copper in the first expe­
riment was neither contained in the water nor in the acid, 
and consequently must have been contained in the matters in 
the vial. 

Doctor Desjardins placed in my hands another bottle that 
,\vas said to contain the stomach of the same woman, Sophie 
Talbot, one portion of it was subjected to the manipulation 
recommended by Reinsch. The mucous sUlface of the stomach 
appeared to have been scraped and washed; (1) and I observed 
to those around me that it was difficult under the existing cir­
cumstances to obtain satisfactory results. Reinsch's test 
yielded results very similar to those obtained in the first 
experiment, that is to say, the copper was stained of an 
iron gray colour, but the coating was not so thick or so wcll 
marked as in the first experiment. 

Several other processes were resorted to, among them that 
recommended by Marsh, but no very satisfactory result was 
obtained. I likewise passed a stream of hydrosulphuric-acid 
gas, through a previously prepared solution of the suspecteu 
matters, but without marked results. These tests are of a less 
delicate character than that spoken of as Reinsch's test. The 
principal symptoms of poisoning are pain in the region of the 

(1) It had been scraped and washed. 
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stomach, complained of by the deceased, bloody stools, pain 
and constriction of the gullet, preventing her from swallowing 
solid substances, and the clotted blood mixed with the mat­
ters rejected from the stomach. 

These symptoms are generally met with in cases of poison­
ing by irritant sub~tances, such as arsenic and phosphoms. 
From the post-mortem description of the internal parts of 
the body, given by the medical witnesses, I am of opinion 
that the deceased died of inflammation of the mucous mem­
brane of the stomach, and that the said inflammation was 
caused by the introduction of an irritant or corrosive substance. 

The smell of garlic mentioned by the medical men as 
being present at the time specified, is one peculiar to, and 
yielded by phosphol'l1s. The small white particles men­
tioned as being present, do not, according to my experience, 
indicate much by themselves, as such particles are frequently 
met with in the stomach. When carefully examined, I think 
it is possible by the touch to discover if such particles be 
metallic or not. The Medical witnesses ha-re stated that 
the superior portion of the rectum was in a state of disorga­
nisation ; this inflammation and disorganisation, I look upon 
as one of tile most marked effects of an irritant poison, more 
particularly that of ar:Jenic. The inflammation described as 
being present in the stomach is frequently met with, but 
inflammation of the stomach conjointly 'with severe inflam­
mation and disorganisation of the rertum, is only met with 
in extraordinary cases. 

From the facts taken collectively-after a careful examina­
tion of the symptoms present during the illness, and of the 
cadaverous appearances, I am of opinion that the deceased 

. died from the effects of an irritant poison. 

I know Smith's E.1:tenninator; it is a violent poison, 1 be 
base or active principle of which is phosphorus. 
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From the description of a box and its contents given in 
the evidence of Doctors DuM and Desjardins, I am of opinion 
that the said box contained Smith's Exterminato1·. 

I know of no agent by which we can detect the presence 
of phosphorus ill the body after foUl' or five month's inhuma­
tion, it is a volatile substance, decomposed by the contact of 
atmospheric air. 

Examilled by the defence: 

The symptoms of poisoning by arsenic are various. I 
oelieve that the symptoms of poisoning by phosphoru:- are 
les, varied than those of poisoning by arsenic. It is unusual 
to meet -with an inflammation of both extremities of the 
intestine tube, lhe intermediate portions being healthy. In 
cases of ordinary inflammation, the infhtmmatory action 
spreads by contiguity. In gastro interitis the symptoms are, 
vomiting, pain in the region of the stomach, dry skin, pulse 
small and hard, obstinate constipation, great prostration­
palpitation of the heart is a nervous affection that may be 
produced by inflammation of some very important organ; it 
is likewise seen in nervous diseases. 

I have frequently examined the bodies of persons who 
have died of Gastritis, the appearance of the stomach varies 
according to the duration of the disease, the intensity of the 
inflammation, and the habits of the individual. 

There is this difference between ordinary Gastritis and 
that caused by irritant poisons, that the disease in the latter 
caseruns its course much more rapidly. 

It is on reeord that traces of arsenic have been found in the 
soil of several old cemeteries. I believe that it was detected 
in two cemeteries in France, and likewise in Enrrland . the o , 
reason is unknown. Traces of arsenIc are not found in 
ordinary soil. There is no arsenic contained in the human 
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body although a contrary opinion obtained for a length of 
time. Orfila who had become a convert to this opinion, has 
since acknowledged his error, and even proved the cause of 
his error. 

The quantity or arsenic detected by my experiments was 
"mall, inappreciable by the ordinary weights; the quantity of 
matter acted upon was likewise .very ~mall. The quantity of 
arsenic found could not of itself cause death. The slips of cop­
per used were not heated immediately before being introduced 
into the liquid, this would have interfered with the poli"hed 
surface, but they had been previously heated so as to free them 
from the possibility of containing arsenic. They dere intro­
duced cold into the liquid, when it was near the boiling 
point. After the volatilisation of the lead-colored crust that 
adhered to the slips of copper, minute ,,,hite points were seen 
to adhere to the internal surface of the reduction tube, those 
points I recognised by their octahedral shape as crystals of 
arsenious acid. I am of opinion that the slips of cappel' were 
covered with a film of metallic arsenic, which in the act of 
volatilisation became united with air, and converted into arse­
nious acid, which subsequently attached itself to the walls of 

the tube. 

Re-examination: 

Constriction of the throat, and difficulty of s,vallowing 
solid substances, are symptoms not met with in ordinary 

inflammations of the stomach. 

Marquis and Michaud, both Physicians, are also of opi­
nion that Sophie Talbot died of an inflammation caused by 

the taking of corrosive poisons. 

Mr. Tache addressed the jury on behalf of the prisoners. 
The line of defence adopted by the prisoners consisted of a 
general denegation. ';:;'was pretended that the body of the 
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deceased had not been identified, that there was no proof of' 
poisoning, and that, if there were such proof, the poison was 
not proved to haye been administered by the prisoners. 

The following is an abstract of the evidence adduced by 

the defence : 

Jean Baptiste Morin, witness [01' the defence :-On the 
night of Sophie Talbot's dcath, Bembe came down to the 
4th range to his father's house to ask us to go for the 

pries1, as his wife was dying. We went for him-in 
our way to Berube's we met the son of Augustin Theriault 

who told us she was dead. 

Bt'rube was very kind and complaisant to his deceased 
wife, and he refused her nothing-and on one occasion he 
even gavc me money to purchase apples and molasses 10 

make IITcsclTes jar Iter. 

Cross examined: 

It was about the begining oj October last year that Berube 
gave me money to purchase apples and molasses. I bought 
some and f.fave them to him; but I did not learn that pre­

serves were made with them. I lived then with Berube in the 
house which he has in the 4th range of Green Island, and 
his deceased wife lived there at the same time. 

A daughter of Berube, about eleven years of age, is exa­
mined.-She ate of the preserves which were brought to the 
deceased by G€moffc Theriault and they did not make her 
sick. 

Cross examined: 

She only tasted them. 

The Counsel for the defence declared his evidence closed. 

MR. ANGERS, for the CrowD, summed up the evidence, 
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and Mr. Justice PANET charged the jury, commenting: 
1st. upon the evidence which had established that the 
death of: Sophie Talbot had been occasioned by poison; 2dly. 
upon the facts and circumstances which tended to implicate 
the prisoners, and lastly upon the confession of Cesaree Thl'­
riault, as proved by Dr. Dube, directing the jury to weigh 
this evidence with the greatest care and precaution, and 

impressing upon their mind that this evidence could only he 
received as against the prisoner Cesaree Theriault. 

The jury withdrew for half an hour, and returned a verdict 

of guilty against the two prisoners. 

The Judge then pronounced the sentence of death upon 
the prisoners; and the day of l'Xf'c:utiOI1 was fi,;I,d for the 

tenth day of December, 1852. 

ANGERS, of Counsel for the Cro\vn. 

TACHE and HUDON, of Counsel for the Prisonf'rs. 

This case having been the subject of comments in the 

periodical press and elsewhere, and important questions 

having arisen as to the admissibiltyand sufficiency ot'the evi­

dence, the testimony of the medical men, and the rulings of 

the presiding Judge, We publish the following review of 

this case, furnished to us by competent juri~ts, giving also 

an abstract of the main objections as to the legality of the 

proceedings such as have appeared in the Quebec Mercury, 

and other news-papers. Ed. 
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REVIEW OF THE CASE 

OF REGINA VS. BERUBE ET AL. 
111urder by Poison. 

ARTICLE 1.-Remarks on the Kamouraska murder case. 

ARTICLE 2.-An answe1' to the above remarks. 

ARTICLE 3.-A geneml1'eview of the law and tltefacts of 

the Berube case. 

ARTICLE 1. 
RBMARKS ON THE KAMOURASKA MURDER CASE. 

']'0 the Editor of the Quebec Mercury, 

§ I, SIR,-I read in the "Canadien," the report of the recent 
trial at Kamouraska, of one Berube and his wife, accused of 
poisoning the first wife of the prisoner Berube. These two 
unfortunate individuals have been found guilty and COll­

demned to death, and I believe they are to be executed on 
the 2d proximo. As the evidence adduced has been, in part, 
given to the public, I have considered that I would be 

wanting in the obligation which every citizen o\ves to society, 

did I not call attention to the extraordinary species of evi­
dence which has been allowed to be adduced against the 

pnsoners. 

No principle in law is more clearly established than 
that which rejects hearsay eviden.ce ; yet the chief portion of 
the testimony contained in the" Canadien" allowed to be 
given against the accused, is wholly of this obnoxious cha­
racter. I repeat that the stories of nearly all the witnesses 
produced against the prisoners, consist for the most part, in 
statements made to them by the deceased, when it does not, in 
the slightest degree appear, that she was in that state, which 
alone rendered such statements admissible. (1) The rule in 

~(1) Statements that a sick pel son mak~s of her sufferings are admissible in 
evidence-Phil. and Amos on Evid. p. 266. 
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relation to the admission of such statements, is equally as 

well established as the other, and is always laid down in the 

books, under the head of" Dying declarations" two words 
which at once convey to the mind, what the condition of the 
deceased must have been, at the time the statements were 
made. (1) 

This rule in itselfforms, after all, but an exception to the 
general rule, which rejects hearsay evidence. The general 
principle, on which the species of evidence termed" Dying 
declarations" is admitted was thus stated by Lord Chief 
Baron Eyre, in Rex vs. Woodcock, (2) " That they are de­
clarations made in extremity, when the pmiy is at the 
point of death, and when every hope of this world jf' 

gone, when every motive to falsehood is silenced, and 
the mind is induced, by the most powerful consideration~, 
to speak the truth. A situation so solemn and so awful i:,; 
considered by the law, as creating an obligation equal to that 

which is imposed by a positive oath in a Court of Justice. 
It is essential to the admissibility of these declarations, and 
is a preliminary jact, to be proved by the party offering them 
in 'evidence, that they were made under a sense of impending' 
death." " It is the imp1'ession of almost immediate dissolution, 
that renders the testimony admissible." Therefore, where it 

appears that the deceased, at the time of the declaration, haJ 
any expectation or hope of recovery, however slight it may 
have been, and though death actually ensued in an hour (tjteT­

wards, the declaration is INADMISSIBLE," (3) "A belief 

that the party will not recover, (said Baron Hullock,) is not 
in itself sufficient, unless there be also the prospect of ,- almo:,;t 
immediate dissolution, Rex vs. Butchell, 3, C. & P. 629-3l. 
In addition to these authorities, I shall merely add the follow­
ina extract from the most eminent writers on the subject, on b 

(1) This was not the "ase of a Dying Declaration. 
(2) 2 Leach's Cr. Cas. 556. 
(3) East P. C. 458-9, Welborn'S case. 
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the latiI1ll1(> tllm; allowed, (1) "TIJOugh the1>~ declara­
tions, when deliberately made, under a solemn and religious 
sense of impending dissolution, and concerning circums­
tances in respect of which the deceased was not likely to 
h:we been mistaken, are entitled to great weight, if precisely 
identified, yet it is always to be recollected that the accused 
has not the power oj eToss-e:cctmination, a power quite as 
ef'",,,ulial to the eliciting of all the truth, as the obligation of 
an oath can be ;-and tl10,1 when the \vitness has not a deep 
and strong sen.3e of accountability to his master, the passion 
of anger, and feelings of revenge may, as they have not unjre­
(Jllt/la!) been /0111/([ to do, affect the truth and accuracy of his 
~tatemenl:-:, especially as the salutary and restraining fear of 
punishmcJ1L for perjmy is in such ca~es withdrawn." 

Now, applying these principles to the facts of the Berube 

ca:oc, what do 1,VC find? (2) Witnesses allowed to detail conver­
S3.tiOllS with the deceased without one tittle of evidence being 
adduced to shew that she was under that sense of impending 
ctbsolution, which could alone render her declarations 
admissible. Where is the evidence of the proof of the cir 
CL1mstance mentioned by L. C. B. Eyre, as essential to the 
admissibility of these statements? Where is the proof of this 
" preliminary fact to be proved by the party offering them in 
evidence ?" Is it in the testimony of G€moffe Theriault, who 
swears that the deceased, at the time of some of these conver­
sations " etait sur Ie pied de son lit, parlait, riait avec nous, 
eIle ne paraissait pas beaucoup souffrir et ne se plaignait pas 
trap ?" cwas sitting at the foot af her bed, speaking and 
laughing with us, she did not appear to suffer much, nor did 
she complain much?) Or is it to be found in the testimony 
of Marceline Beaulieu, who swears that the deceased was, at 

. (1) Phil. &; Am. Evid. 305·6 :-1 Phil. Evid. 292 :-2 Johns 35 36 per Li-
V1D2".;ton J. ' , , 

(2). These principles canno~ be applied to the Berube case; there is no 
q~lestlOn there of dymg declaratIOns, but of the descriptiQO given by the deceased 
01 her suffenngs. 
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the time of these statements, able to get up alone ; that 
she was still tolerably strong and that the deceased told her 
that her husband had a preference for the female prisoner, 
that she nevertheless, never said so in her husband's 
presence, and that the deceased made these complaints 
six or seven months before her death, while the indict­
ment charged the prisoner with poisoning her some few 
days before she died? I will not take up more time 
on this portion of the subject, but will pass on toa notlln', 
contenting myself with merely asking what the ellect 
of such testimony must have been on the minds of a jury com­
posed in all probability of twelve uneducated men from the 
country, when I add that the same Marceline Beaulieu \,'as 
allowed to state that the deceased told her "that the prisoner, 
Berube, believed that she was ill because there was poison 
in the potatoes which she had been ,;iven," and this in a 
case were the prisoner was charged with this very crime of 

poisoning ! (1) 

Apart from this testimony, other evidence of a still more 
reckless nature seems to have been permitted. Thus we find 
the same witness saying "almost immediately after the 
decease of Berube's wife, it was said (on disait) that Berube 
and the female prisoner were going to be married ; and the 
members of the female prisoner's family said so ! "(Vas 
this, or was it not, hearsay evidence? To cap the climax 
however, we find Philomene Boule, swearing "that on the 
Wednesday preceding the decease of the woman, N al'cis,~c 

Theriault, a child, noW aged' about six years' (consequently 
at the time of statement he was scarcely five years old !) told 

me that the prisoner had given a small red box to the fp-male 
p-risoner, and that he (the child of five years old) believed 
that it was for the purpose of poisoning Julie Ouellet, his 

mother." 

(1) The witness did not speak of poison in the potatoes, but of the poisonous 
effect of rotten potatoes. 
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As part only of the deposition of Pierre Chabot is published, 
I refrain from expatiating upon it, but even in that part, we 
have a constable swearing that the Magistrate endeavoured 
to induce the female prisoner to become" Queen's evidence" 
in conseqnence of the proof adduced before the Coroner! To 
the honor of the Constable, be it said, he told the Magistmte, 
that" in his opinion the time had not yet come to do that, and 
that certain formalities must first be adopted"! Verily, if 
those gentlemen were made to change offices the public 
service would be benefitted. 

In conclusion, I beg to state, that I do not believe I 
have made myself subject to the accusation of having 
commented upon the evidence while a portion of it only 
was before the public, because such testimony is illegal 
per se, and cannot be rendered legal by subsequent evidence, 
and I will add, that it is possible that the" preliminary fact" 
adverted to, may haye been established, and if so, then the 
evidence may have been legally received and the prisoners 
duly convicted, but I can see no reason why so important a 
portion ofthe testimony should have been omitted in the repmt 
of a C'QSC, apparently so very minute and circumstantial, and 
which must have been handed for publication by some one 
who took notes of the trial. Should such however be the 
case, I shall be most happy to withdraw my strietlll'es, and 

make the amende honorable a qui de droit ; but should the 

report be '"t correct detail of all that was adduced, and should 
it appear on further inquiry, that the other evidence which 
,yas tendered, was not sufficient in law to sustain the indict­
ment, then I think it will become necessary to givE' another 
(0urt the opportunity of declaring, whether or not, the trial 
in question, was, in the ,vords of Lord Denman, "a mockery, 
a delusion, and a snare ?" 

AN ADVOCATE. 
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To the Editor of the JIforflil1{£ Chrol1icle. 

§2. SIR,-The whole report of the Berube cac;e has now been 
published, and everyone can judge for himself, how far the 
finding of the verdict was wan-anted by the evidence addu­
ced. Far from being of opinion that the subsequent publica­
tion of the testimony has corrected the errors of the first por-
1 ion, or shewn that I was wrong in commenting on it piece­
meal, I am the more convinced that an erroneous course 
was adopted from the beginning-that evidence, of an illegal 
nature, and inelevant in its tendency, was admitted,-that 
the minds of the jury were allowed to be influenced by con­
siderations foreign to the subject of the accusation, and that 
in short, nothing has been established to warrant the admis­
sion of evidence which must have tended to convict the 

prisoners. 

Not a tittle of legal evidence has been adduced to attach 
the poisoning to Berube. The testimony given at the trial 
connects him, in no wise, with the administration of either 
arsenic or phosphorus, or as the wilnesses term it, " Smith's 
E:derminator." Two questions presented themselves at this 
trial. The first, whether Sophie Talbot had died in conse­
quence of poison having been administered to her? and 
secondly, by whom this poison had been administered? The 
solution of these questions should have been attained by the 
usual predetermined and specific rules of inquiry, and this 
would have been more efficiently obtained in this manner, 
than by allowing the tribunal the uncontrolled liberty of 
action, which it seems to have preferred. The knowledge 
of a multitude of comparatively insignificant facts serves 
often rather to confuse than enHghten, and the wider the 
field of inquiry the greater the danger of mistake, from 

emotions created by irrelevant evidence. The very form of 
the inquily is of vital importance as respects the security of 
society, for experience has shewn that this form was a neces­

sary safeguard for such security. 
3 
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Proceeding first to e~mine the valne of the evidence 
adduced against Berube, we find it utterly worthless-I dis­
dain again to return to the testimony of the child Narcisse, 
and even ifhis evidence were legally or reasonably admis­
sible, there is no proof whatever to connect the box which 
he saw Berube give, with that out of which the female pri­

soner took the substance to mix up with the preserves-none 

whatever. (1)1t was however conceived that it would fasten a 
possibility of the administration of poison upon him, could it 
be established that he had purchased poison of the descrip­
tion which, it is alleged, caused the death of his wife, and 
in order to effect this important object, two witnesses were 
('xamined. Their testimony was certainly of a formidable 
nature, for they both (Jarvis and his daughter) positively 
swear, that they had no arsenic in their establishment, when 

Berube asked for it, and that he absolutely rifused to purchase 
the " E.ctel'minator, " because he found the price too high? 
Now, a man, who, it is pretended, was so very anxious to 
get rid of his wife, would scarcely have hesitated 10 give 
twenty pence for a poison which would so effectually secure 
his object. Therefore, the only evidence offered to connect 

Berube with the procurement of the poison incontestably 

established that he obtained none at all. (2) When so many 
extraneous methods were res0l1ed to, for the purpose of 
endeavouring to criminate him, why were not efforts made 
to discover the parties from whom the poison was obtained? 

Perhaps the immense amount of secondary and irrelevant 
evidence, which must have taken much time and pains to 
collect, caused this important fact to be lost sight of. There is, 
I may observe here, no proof whatever of the administering of 
arsenic by either prisoner. Even as regards Cesaree The­
riault, the evidence of administration is confined to the sub-

(1) Contrd, see Philomi'me Boule's evidence, and that of the child. 
(2) There is other evidence connectillg Berulie with the crime. 
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stanr'p from the box, which it is slIppnsed, contained the 
Extermillatur, 

Having failed on thi;; point, it became apparently necessary 
to :shew that Berube was 110t on good term" with his wife, and 
strange to say, the only evidenl'l' in support of such a sup­

Jlo:,;itiol1 i" found in the hearsay cyidenec of Marceline Beau­
lieu, who was told by the dec('a:-cd six: or seven months 
I)('[ore the ('rime i.-.; alleged to han' been committed, that she 

\Va,.: 1101 happy, and yet, we have the positive testimony 
IIl/dcr oath of the said Marceline Beaulieu, GenoJie ThL'riault, 
Amable Ouellet, 'and Jean Btl', :l\1orin, who ;;\Vl'ar" that 
Bt"rnbe and his wife were always on good terms, and they 
Ii ved happily 'CO/JllilG it ('.1'[ biel/ mre '-that Berube \Va:,; 
always kind and complaisant to her-that he refused her 
nothing" and all/his to theil' persollal knowledge; and the ne­
gatiV<.~ testimony of the brother and ('hildren of the decea:,;ed

J 

who lived with her, and who yet say nothing of an unplea­
sant feeling existing between the parties. 

Perhaps it may be urged that dming her illness, he mani­
],-sted the utmost indifference to her health, and evinced a 
de,.:ire to :-;ee her languish without any effort to succour or 
relieve he\'. Tlw only evidence that I can find concerning 
thi,.: point i,.: contained, lst--in the deposition of the same 
Marceline Beaulieu, who ,.:ay", t hat the prisoner sent for 
warm punch whil'h revived hi" wife, anet waf' given her by 
the witness herself, that he went to her house to get mede­
('ine for his wife, saying :,;he 'nl~ ill, and requesting her 
a,.:,.:istancc, and imploring her to lend him a feather bed for 
hi,.: wife, as she had not a comfortable matrass-ofhis having 
prot'lll'ed tisanne for her. 2nd-In the deposition of GenoRe 
Theriault, who proves that Berube went to her house dm'lng 
the night to inform her that his wife was ill, and that he 

wished to procure for her the last consolations of a dying 
christian. 3rd-In the depositions of Philomene Berube and 
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Germain Talbot, (the former the daughter, and the other the 

brothel' of the deceased) who confirm the statement of Mar­
celine Beaulieu; and 4th, in the deposition of Jean Bte. 
Morin, who proves that Berube J:equested him also to go for 
the Cure to attend his sick wife. If this ground of accusa­
tion be abandoned, perhaps, it will be said, that on the occa­
sion of the first illness of the deceased (which took place 
when her husband was absent, and during which she exhi­
bited symptoms similar to those observed during her last 
attack) Berube acted in a manner which evinced his anxiety 
to lose his wife. This is proved perhaps b¥ the testimony of 
the deceased's daughter, PhilomEme, who swears, that when 
the prisoner heard of this illness, he went at once to attend 
his wife, and by that of Felicite Peltier, who confirms the 
deposition of Philomenp , and adds that from what he did for 
her, his wife became better, and that he did not leave her 
nntil her illness had disappeared. 

It is moreover evident from the conduct of Berube, that he 

was not at all desirous that his wife should eat of the preserves 
(supposed to be poisoned) for we find PhilomEme Berube 
establishing that" as some dirt had fallen into the preserves, 
and as the prisoner had put his hands into the cup to take it 
out, the deceased said that the preserves were too dirty, and 
that we should eat no more, upon which the prisoner threw 
them away and the pt·isoner himself took them from my mother." 
And it is moreover clear, that neither Berube nor the female 
prisoner was watching that no efforts should be made to 
examine the preserves, for we find that either one or the other 
or both, absented themselves with some of the visitors , 
leaving the deceased with her friends, who, if anything pecu­
liar was then discovered about these preserves, might have 
}·etained them for further invei:.tigation. 

Dr. DuM (as I ~lav~ alre~dy mentioned in my last letter) 
was allowed to g1ve 111 eVIdence an admission made by the 
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female prisoner, on the morning after the inquest. That ad. 
mission was as follows: "He gave me a little box of tin, covered 
with paper glued on the seams-I opened it,-it was of a rose 
colour and of the consistence of suet. I took some three times 
on the blade of a knife and put itin the preserves, and each time 
that I did so smoke was produced. I only put a little z"n 
the preserves." NowI have already shewn that this evidence 
could not affect Berube. Numerous authorities support this 
position. I shall content myself with simply referring to a few: 
-Rex vs. Fletcher, 4 Cal'. and P. 250 :-Rex vs. Hearne, 4 
Cal'. and P. 215 :-Rexvs. Walkely, 6 Car. andP.175 :-Rex 
vs. Appleby, 3 Stark, 33 :-(In this case, A. & B. were charged 
with the joint commission of a felony, and A, on his examina­
tion before a magistrate stated in the hearing of C, that he and 
B,jointly committed such felony, which B did not deny; and 
yet it was held that these circumstances were not admissible, 
as evidence against B,) Rex vs. Pountney, 7 Car. and P. 302:-
2 Russ. on C. p. 864, and Arch. 122. Besides it must be 
remembered that this so called admission was made 
within some two or three hou7's after the z"nducement !tad been 
held out to this W01nan by the magistmte to confess, and when 
she was in the custody of the very man in whose presence the 
inducement was made. (I) Now, it is undeniable in law that 
a second confession made under the same influence as the 
first is not receivable in evidence (Meynell's case, 2 Lewin, 
C. C. 122 :-Taunton, S. P. Sherrington's case :-Ib. 123, 
Patterson.) And it is quite needless for me to shew that this 
confession must have been made under the influence of this 

inducement, since the learned Judge refused to admit admis­

sions made by this woman even twenty-four hours after the 

above admission made, on the eJ.:press ground that the influ­

ence still predominated. (2) Reject this admission, and where 

(I) This admission was made without the presence of ChaboL 
U) Not only n(lon this ground, but also npon th~ ground that the latter ll;dmls­

sions \~ere made m presence of persons 1II authonty, trom whom the pfl~oner 
might expect some benefit. 
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is the proof that Cesaree Theriault administered any suspi.­
cious substance whatever? 

One would have thought that we had enough of hearsay 

evidence, and yet Germain Talbot is allowed to state con­
versations between him and Augustin Theriault (father to the 
female prisoner) which would tend to criminate the accused, 
for they convey threats on the part of this Augustin Theriault, 
against the witness if he should speak against the female 
prisoner. (1) Throughout the whole course of ~he evidence, 
we find ('onstant efforts made to keep before the mind 
of the jury, that an illicit connexion existed between the two 
prisoners during the lifetime of the deceased, and that even 
so long as three years and a half ago Berube was on 
improper terms of intimacy with the female prisoner, (then 
between 12 and 13 years of age.) This is appropriately follow­
ed up by evidence that the female prisoner became enceinte 
about a fortnight after the interment of the deceased. 
What had all this to do, with the charge of poisoning? Were 
the prisoners bound to maintain their character for chas­

tity, or defend their lives on a charge of murder ? Truth 

and justice require that the verdict of a jury should result 
wholly from the evidence, and that the evidence should 1"elate 
solely to the fact charged-Did the prisoners poison the 
deceased? The fact of their having or not having done the 
deed cannot depend upon the ideas which the jury may 
entertain of the conjugal fidelity of one of the parties. This 
evidence indicates the nature of the course adopted-facts 
established, without compunction, relevant or irrelevant-a 
fearful advantage being obtained over the unfortunate pri­
soners-their case prejudged in the minds of the jury with 
evidence of no legal value-their previous history pretended 
to be related, perhaps distorted-and thus making the ques­
tion of their guilt or innocence to tum, not upon the evidence 

(1) These threats were made in presen~e of Berube who it is pr d·· d 
in them. ' , ove ,Jome 
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adduced respecting the deed, for the supposed perpetration of 
which they were then being tried, but upon the notion which 
the jury might form as to their fonner conduct apd character. 
The safeguards which experience and forethought have dis­
covered and suggested, for the protection as well of the 
accused as of the society which arraigned them, have been de­
parted from; the dictates of humanity and of common justice, 
violated; and a court of justice assembled to decide upon the 
life or death of two fellow creatures converted into a scene 
wholly repugnant to the spirit and the letter of our institu­
tion:>. 

I alluded, en passant in my last paper, to the supposed iden­
till} of the corpse of Sophie Talbot. One can understand the 
necessity of having legal proof of this fact. The necessity, 
or utility of establishing tlte identity of the coffin is not quite 
so clear. However, Lambert Ouellet, was examined on this 
point. He swears" that he filled up the deceased's grave, 
after the coffin had been put in, that it was he who took up 
the coffin at the inquest, that the coffin so taken up is the same 
that was put in as containing the body of Sophie Talbot. The 
coffin had been painted with the soot of smoke when it was 
put in the ground, and was black; when it was taken up 
the soot and black were gone." (1) In other words, he says, 
" I buried a black coffin and I dug up a white one !" The iden­
tity of tlte coffin is established by proving that it was wholly 
different frmn the one said to contain tlte body! Now, this 
proof must have presented itself to the jury under a syllogistic 
form something like this. "The coffin buried was a black 
one; but the coffin dug up, was a white one; therefore the 
latte?' contained the body of the deceased !" 

It is not my intention to comment on the evidence 
given by the Medical Gentlemen, for, I take it, sufficient 
has been shewn, to establish that in consequence of 

(1) Th(,~Q had been effaced by moisture, 



40 

illegal evidence having being received against the prisoners 
the verdict rendered against them is illegal. I shall mere­
ly say, that _ even arguing upon the facts supposed to be 
proved, there is no evidence as to the quantity of the Extet'­
'lninator administered in the first place, only" a little," it is 
proved, was put into the preserves; 20, the deceased only 
took two or three teapoonsful of the preserves; whereas the 
whole quantity consisted of about three fingers in depth of a 

bowl. Here would arise the chief question, whether the 
quantity taken (supposing the preserves contained poison) ,vas 
sufficient to destroy life? 

There is no evidence on this point-on the contrary, all the 
Medical Gentlemen agree in stating that in so far as the 

Arsenic is considered (and there is no proof of the adminis­
tration of that substance) the quantity discovered was not 
sufficient to destroy life, Now, no Phosphorus was discovered 
in the body at all, because (say these gentlemen), it is a 

volatile substance, and yet great stress is laid on the fact of a 
strong smell of garlic arising from the body, said to proceed 
from this very substance. it is somewhat difficult to find a 
smell remaining months after the substance which has pro­

duced the odour has disappeared. One would think that 
the accessary could not exist without the principal. Now 
the odour of garlic would arise from Arsenic when heated , 
and yet this fact seems to have been wholly slurred over. I 
shall not say a word, either, of a confusion which seems to 
have taken place between the classification of Arsenic and 
Phosphorus, as irritants and corrosives. I regret nevertheless 
that other portions of the body were not subjected to exami­
nation. The brain and spinal marrow might have been looked 
at, for Arsenic could affect both. This was the more neces­
sary as the symptoms are not always clearly indicative of the 
poison taken. Another very singular circumstance connected 
with t.his poisoning is, that although the female prisoner and 
the WItnesses Genoffe Theriault, Philomene Berube, and 
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another girl, partook of the preserves, yet, they did not suffer 
from the effect of it. They, (and the deceased likewise) 
found they had a good taste. (1) Now, if they really contained 
this Smith's Exterminator which· has so very offensive a 
smell, (and so powerful as to be quite perceptible 5 months 
alter the substance itself ceased to exist,) can it be true that 
in the eating of the preserves, the smell was not discovered? 
The Medical witnesses do not appear to have been asked with­
in what period of time poison usually proves fatal! The 
stomach was preserved, but had been so much scraped by the 
other gentlemen (who nevertheless admit that they had 110t the 
necesssary instruments to carry out the experiments) that Dr. 
Jackson could not establish any thing satisfactory by an exa­
mination. Besides, it is quite possible, that jt may have been 
preserved in Alcohol, which would have seriously embarrass 
ed an analysis of its contents. A very delicate experiment was 
resorted to for the purpose of ascertaining whether the subs­
tance contained in the vial given by Dr. Dube to Dr. Jackson, 
taken from the stomach of the deceased, was impregnated 
with pOiSOll-I allude to " Reinch's Process." "In the appli­
cation of this ingenious process (2) the solid or liquid sup­
posed to contain arsenic is boiled with one-sixth part of 
pure muriatic acid, and a slip of bright copper foil is 
then introduced." I trust, I may be pardoned, if I say 
that I cannot understand why in the experiment made by 
the Medical Gentleman on the substance contained in this 
vial, " he added water," to the ~cid? More particularly as 
the same author says, " One great advantage is, that we are 
not obliged to dilute the liquid in the experiment, and there 
is no loss of arsenic ;" for he adds: "the deposit of arsenic 
is materially affected by the quantity of water present, or, in 

other words, the degree of dilution." I regret moreover, 
that but one piece of copper was introduced into this substance, 

(1) Upon this point, read the answer to these remarks. 
(;:!) Taylor'S Medical Jur. p. 91. 
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for, since the quantity obtained was so small as to be " inap­
preciable" in weight, a continuation was advisable; because, 
says Taylor: " If enough should not be apparent from one 
piece of copper, several may be successively introduced. A 
large surface of copper may be in this way at once covered, 
and the arsenic collected." Taylor speaks of another experi­

ment for the purpose of determining the presence of arsenic, 
viz: that of cutting the liver, spleen, and kidneys, into very 
small pieces, and subjecting them also to Reinsch's process. 
It is a pity that all these organs were not subjected to the test. 
One of the medical gentlemen (who has nevertheless given an 
enlightened testimony) admits that he never heard of the pre­
sencc 0(' arsenic in the soil of Cemeteries-yet, Taylor says, 

(p.95) that it is established by the researches of several tox­
icologi:4s, that such soil often contains a compound of that 
substancE' . 

I have already objected to "hearsay evidence;" before 
concluding, I have also to object to an "opinion" given 
by a medical witness, apparently in answer to a ques­
tion, not within the scope of those in which his opinion 
would be receivable. The gentleman in question says, 
" From the description of a box, of which mention has been 
made by Drs. DuM and Desjardins, I am oj opinion that 
this box contained Smith's Extenninator." Now this witness 
was no more qualified than any layman to give an opinion 
in relation to this matter-it was not a question of medical 
science or skill-for although the box might have correspond­
ed with the bO:fes which contain the "Exterminator" yet , , 
there is. nothing inconsistent with this fact in supposing 
that this very box may have contained tooth-powder or any 
other substance. A medical witness should " remember 
that his conclusions are to be based only upon medical 
f~ets-not . upon moral circumstances, unless he be spe­
CIally reqUIred to express an opinion with regard to them, 
when they are of a medico-moral nature. Further, they must 
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be based only on what he has himself seen or observed." (1) 
Did It become absolutely necessary to indentify this box and 
the substance it contained, I submit that the identical John 
Smith himself might, failing other evidence, have been pro­
duced. 

And now, I shall finish my correspondence on this subject, 
in the words of the reviewer of Madame Lafarge's case, 
published in the Edinburgh Review. "The quantity of irrele­
vant matter introduced on this trial is absolutely marvellous, 
while the facts stated in evidence which really related to the 
issue, are in the same proportion few, and for the most part 
insignificant." And no"v, I ask with that writer" whether it 
would be safe, whether it would conduce to the security of 
society at large, to deem the prisoners guilty, upon evidence 
which in itself is so untmstworthy, and received in a manner 
so well calculated to destroy the little value it might other­
wise have possessed?" Looking back through the whole 
evidence, carefully weighing each >;eparate item adduced, 
trying its worth by every test which the experience of agt'~ has 
suggested, I am satisfied that there was not sufficient evidence 
to prove that the deceased came to a violent end; still less 
to shew that the prisoners were the guilty cause of her death. 
The system employed served to increase, not to allay alarm; 
it made criminals, without proving them to be guilty; and 
thus it will teach the people to feel, that not only are they 
exposed to the assaults of the wrong-doer, but that they are 
also liable to incur even greater harm from the very means 
intended for their protection. 

The termination of the Kamouraska trial arrives at last, 
after having occupied from Saturday till Friday of the follow_ 
ing week. The Judge reads his notes, and addresses the jury; 
that body retire, and return into Court after a deliberation of 
half an hour, and in the midst of the general anxiety, these 

(1) Taylor'S Med.iaal Jur., p. 6c? 
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men pronounce a verdict of guilty against the man and the 

woman. The Judge pronounces the sentence of death against 

the prisoners. A dread emotion prevails in the Court, and the 

tears of the condemned mingle with those of the spectators, 

and the day which is to close the mortal existence of two hu­

man beings is proclaimed. All is over. The father of three 

helpless children-the mother of an infant babe, are conducted 

to prison, there to remain till they undergo the last punishment 

which the power of their fellows can inflict. Silenced now 

are the fancies that entered the heads of their neighbours, 

hushed are the conjectures of the gossiping crones. The 

work is done. THE PREROGATIVE OF MERCY STILL REMAINS! 

Shall these people be executed, and the press of this ·district 

maintain silence? (1) 
" AN ADVOCATE." 

ARTICLE 2. 

An answer to lite Remarks of an Advocate. 

So much has been written and published touching this 

unfortunate affair that it would seem necessary to have done 

with it ; nevertheless as every thing that has been said upon 

the subject, has been so said Exparte, it will no doubt be 

allowed one who was present at the trial to make a state­

ment in elucidation of truth and in the interest of justice. 

It is perhaps late, but it must be borne in mind, that it 

would not have been right to express an opinion at a time 

when the fafe of the prisoners was undecided, and was still 

in the hands of the Government. Moreover the period of 

time which has now elapsed must have had the effect of 

smoothing down the ill feelings which certain publications 

must have given rise to. 

h (1) A la.rge number of petitions in favor ofa commutation having been sent from 

t e Dl~tnct of Kamoura.ska, the pnsoners have had their sentence commuted 
Into an Impnsonment for life m the Penitentiary. 
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It is necessary to observe, at the outset, that the evidence 
as publiRhed in the Canadien and as published in the Joumal 
de Quebec, and upon which several comments have been 
made, is not correctly given: certain errors have crept in, 
certain omissions have been made. It is confused and 
obscure, this is not attributable to the reporter, but to CIr­

cumstances over which no control could be exercisecL 

The reporter has omitted certain answers of the boy N ar 
cisse Theriault to the questions put to him by the Court upon 
the closing of his evidence. An important omission has 

been made in relation to the evidence of one Chabot to 
whose testimony a number of objections were made, which 
were all maintained by the court, by reason of its being in 
presence of Chabot, that Gauvreau, the Justice of the Peace, 
suggested to the female prisoner the propriety of her be­
coming a witness for the Crown. It is reported neverthe­

less, that one of these objections was set aside, such is not 

the case. The reason of this, no doubt, involuntary error, is 

that the examination of the witness was continued upon 

matters which had prcceded the pretended admission which 

was attributed to the female prisoner. In the address to the 

jmy, it was plainly said that the statements made to Chabot 
could not be received, those only made to Vr. DuM being 

admissible. The Court distinctly stating to the jury the rea­
sons for deciding that the admissions to the constable Chabot 
could not be received, and the ground for admitting those 
made to Dr. Dube. 

The points raised in relation to this trial are reducible to 

four principal ones. 

1. That the Court had admitted hearsay evidence, which 

ought not to have been taken. 
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2. That the evidence of a child who did not understand 

the nature of an oath had been admitted. 

3. That the admissions made by the female prisoner to 
Dr. DuM, after it had been suggested to her, that it would be 
better that she should become a witness for the Crown, had 

been illegally admitted by the Court. 

-1 And 1a"tly. That as to the prisoner Berube, there was no 

sufficient proof of his participation in the crime charged. 

FIRST POINT. 

In :mpporting the fir"t point, it has been pretended that 
nothing was clearer in law than the rule which rejects hear­
:-;ay (evidence, and that nevertheless the principal part of the 

evidence received against the parties accused was evidence 
of that description. 

It ha" been repeatedly said that the evidence given by 
most of the witnesses produced, consisted of what had been 

said to them by the deceased, concerning her state of he~ilth, 
and that it did not appear that she was in that state which 

could alone render her statements admissible ;-namely, 
under the impression of impending dissolution. 

The writers upon the subject did not perceive that dying 
deelarations were not in question, but that the matter under 
consideration was the symptoms affecting a woman alleged 
in the indictment to have been poisoned. It is to be regretted 
that they did not advert to the following authority from the work 
cited by them, else they would have found that :-" Wherever 
" the bodily or mental feelings of an individual are material 
" 10 be proved, the usual expressions of such feelings, made 
" at the time in question, are also original evidence •••• 
" and whether they were real or feigned, is for the Jury to 
" determine .... So also, the representations made by a sick 
" person of the nature, symptoms and effects of the malady 
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" under which he is laboring at the time, are received as 

" original evidence. If made to a medical attendant, they 
"are of greater weight as evidence, but if made to any 
" other person they are not rejected on that account." (1) 

I t has been said :-

" Thus, we find the same witness saying, immediately 
" after the decease of Berube's wife, it was said that Berube 
" and the female prisoner were going to be married, and the 
" members of the family of the female prisoner said so! , ! " 
and then, " was this or was it not, hearsay evidence." Thi8 
evidence was admissible; upon consulting Roscoe on evi­
dencce, the following pa:-:sage will be found,-" Where how­
" ever the peculiar circumstances of the case are such a,; to 
" afford a presumption that the hearsay evidence is true, if is 
" then admissible." (2) 

In the present case, the presumptions were strong, f he pri­
soners were in the habit of meeting, and they were soon 
after married. 

III answer to similar objections the same author is referred 

10, he says: 

" Where the inquiry is into the nature and charactcr of a 
" certain transaction, not only what was done, but aJ"o what 

"was said by both parties dUTing the continuance of the 

" transaction is admissible, for to exclude this, would be to 

" exclude the most important evidence. In this case, it is 

" not the statements of those persons, unconnected w.ith the 

" fact which is received, but it is the declaration of the parties 

" to the fact themselves, or of others connected with themselves 
" in the transaction, which are admitted for the purpo::;e of 
"illustrating its peculiar character and circumstances." 
It has been argued that the portion of the evidence of 
Philom€me Boule, in ~vhich she states that the boy Theriault 

(1.) 1 Greenleaf, on Evidence, p. 102. 
(2) Roscoe, on evidence, p. 22. 
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had told her that the male prisoner had given a little box to 
the female prisoner, ought not to have been admitted; this 

objection will be hereafter adverted to. 

SECOND POINT. 

That the evidence of a child who did not understand the 
nature of an oath had been admitted. 

It is well in the first place to examine the Law which 
settles this question.-Roscoe, p. 114, writing upon the sub­
ject, expresses himself thus :-" At one time, their age (of 
" children) was considered as the criterion of their compe­

"tency, and it was a general rule that none could be 
" admitted under the age of nine years, very few under ten." 

The error lies in having taken the old rule as law, and all 
the citations up to the case of Brazier in 1779 are not appli­

cable, as the la,v now stands ;-and it seems not to have been 
observed that it was in that very case that the new rule was 
adopted. Roscoe points this out; he says: " Subsequently 
" all the Judges agreed that a child of any age, if capable 
" of distinguishing~ between good and evil, might be exa­
" mined upon oath, and that a child of whatever age could 
" not be examined unless sworn. This is now the establish­

" ed rule in all cases civil as well as criminal and whether , 
"the prisoner is tried for a capital offence or one of an 
" inferior nature." 

!his is the criterion by which the admissibility of the 
eVIdence of a child, whatever his age may be, must be tested, 
namely, whether he is capable of distinguishing between 
g~~d and evil, and not by his capacity to give a correct defi. 
mtlOn of an oath An th h' 

. . . 0 er aut ont.Y may be here cited: 
PhlllIps, on evidence, in his first volume p. 20, after having 
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referred to Blackstone, says: "It seems however impossible 
" to lay down any general mle on the subject, applicable to 
" all cases. A prisoner may be legally convicted on such 
" evidence alone, and unsupported, and whether the account 
" of the witness requires to be conoborated in any part or to 
" what extent, is a question exclusively for the Jury, to be 
" determined by them on a review of all the circumstances 
" of the case, and specially of the manner in which the child 
" has given his evidence." . 

The following is the preliminary examination of the child, 
as extracted from the notes of the presiding JudgE:: 

Q. What age are you? 

A. I shall be six years old in the month of January. 

Q. Do you know what an oath is? 

A. I do not understand that. 

Q. Have you been to Cathechism? 

A. No, but I am about going. 

Q. Is there a God? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you know what telling the tmth is ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Where are people punished, when they do not tell the 

tmth? 

A. In hell. 

Q. Are people also punished in this world. 

A. Yes. 

Q. What prayers do you know ? 

A. I do not under;5tand that. 
4 
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• ? 
Q. Do you say yom prayers sometImes. 

A. Yes, at night, before going to bed, and also in the 
morning. I say one part alone, and mamma makes me say 

the rest. 

Q. Is it a sin to tell stories under oath? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Whe}-'e would you be punished, if you did not tell the 

truth under oath ? 

A. In hell, and I would also be punished in this world. 
Upon this, the Comt overruled the objection made to the 

hearing of this witness, who was then sworn. He was then 
asked by the Court if hc was obliged to tell the truth,_ and he 

answered he was. 

It must be recollected that the admissibility only of the wit­
ness is in question ;-his evidence will be reviewed later. 

Although this child was unable to give a definition of an 
oath,-it is nevertheless plain from his answers,-that he 
knew what obligation was imposed upon him by his oath, 
and how he could be punished for false swearing, as well in 
this world as in the next, and that he was capable of dis­
tinguishing good from evil. 

According to the authority taken from Roscoe and from 
Phillips, the evidence of the child having been taken, it was 
exclusively within the province ('f the jury to say whether, 
taking into account all the circumstances of the case and'the , 
manner in which the evidence had been given,-the state­
ments of the witness required any and what corroboration. 

It was therefore right in the Court to take this evidence. 
The law gave the judge a discretionary power to that effect 
ail it gave the jury the power of deciding how far the evi~ 
llence required corroboration. Tho evidence of G€moffQ 
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Theriault, Julie Ouellet, and Philomene Boule, and the 
admissions of Cesaree Theriault, concerning the box in 
question, all corroborae the testimony of the boy Narcisse. 

THIRD POINT. 

That the admissions made by the female prisoner to Dr. 
Dube, after it had been suggested to her by Mr. Gauvreau, 
the Justice of the Peace, that it would be better that she 
should become a witness for the Crown, have been illegally 
admitted by the Court. 

Upon this important question, as upon many others, the 
jurisprudence has been improved, as appears by the follow­
ing passage : 

" On this subject, (confessions) the law has proceeded to 
" a scrupulous nicety, which the good sense of the Judges 
" has recently inclined to restrain." (1) 

Upon the occasion of the decision of the twelve judges in 
the case of Regina vs. Baldry, Crown cases reserved of 1852, 
Baron Parke is reported to have made the following obser­
vations: 

" The decisions to that effect have gone a long way. Whe­
" ther it would not have been better to have left the whole to 
" go to the jury, it is now too late to inquire, "but I think there 
" ha~ been too mc1ch tenderness towards prisoners in this 
"matter. I confess that I cannot look at the decisions with­
" out some shame, when I consider what objections have 
" prevailed to prevent the reception of confessions in evi­

"dence, and I agree with the observation of Mr. Pitt 
" Taylor, that the rule has been extended quite too far, and 
., that justice and common sense have too frequently been 

"sacrificed at the shrine of mercy." (2) 

[1] Dickenson's Guide to the Quarter Sessions, by Talfourd, p. 524, 5th Lon­
don Ed. 

(2) XU. Engl. Reports in Law and Equity, for 1852, p. 598, 
. 4'"' 
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This serves to explain some of the older authorities such 
as they are found in Starkie : "Where a confession has 
" once been rendered by such means, all subsequent admis­
" sions of the same or like facts must be rejected, for they 
" may have resulted from the same influence." (1) 

Let us continue to examine the law upon this subject; it 
is clearly stated in the following pasi:lage : 

" The only qnestions in these cases, are, was any promise 
" of favor, or any menace or undue terror, made use of to 

" induce the prisoner to confess. And if so, was the prisoner 
" induced by such promise or menace &c., to make the con­

" fession attempted to be given in evidence. If the judge 

" be of opinion in the affirmative upon both these qu~stions, 

" he will reject the evidence. If on the contrary it appears 

" to him from circumstances, that although such promises or 
" menaces were held ont, they did not oper~te upon the 
" mind of the prisoner, but that his confession was volunta­
" rily made notwithstanding, and he was not biassed by such 

"impressions in making it, the judge will admit the 
" evidence." (2) 

In the caE'e under consideration, a constable by the name 
of Chabot having arrested the female prisoner, took her to 

his house where Mr. Gauvreau, a Justice of the Peace, told 
her she had better become a witness for the Crown' about , 
twenty rr~nutes afterwards Mr. Gauvreau left, without the 
prisoner having made any admissions, but subsequently she 
~nade admissions to Chabot, which she repeated the next 
day, while he was taking her to Kamouraska. The Court 
refused to receive those admissions, because the suggestion 
of Mr. Gauvreau had been made in the presence of the cons~ 
table, Who was a person in authority over the prisoner. 

[1] 3d Starkie's Evid. 49. 
(2) Archbold, p. W!, 



53 

The circumstances under which the admissions to Dr. 
Dube were made, were altogether different ; (1) the question of 
the admissibility of this confession became one of great deli­
cacy-It was received in evidence under the following 
authority, which goes further than was necessayr to admit the 
confession made to Dr. Dube : "If after the promise has been 
"made such circumstantes should take place ?s to induce 
"a· presumption that a subsequent confession has not been 
" made t;.llder the influence of that promise, there appears to 
"be no reason for rejecting the confession, because the 
" person to whom it is made is the same to whom the 
"former confession was also made." (2) Dr. DuM was 
not the person to whom the admissions of the female 

prisoner were made in the first instance, he was a stranger, 
invested with no authority, who had made neither promises 
nor threats. 

The Court had to choose between the opinion of Starkie 
above cited, and the last quoted from Roscoe, which is more 
consonant with the morc recent decisions indicated by Tal­

fourd, who states that, in matter of confession, the law had 

proceeded to a scrupulous nicety which the good sense of 
the judges had recently inclined to restrain. 

In August, 18'13, the Court of Queen's Bench, at Quebec, 

presided by SirJ AMES STUART, Chief Justice, tried one Jacob 
C]jne, upon an indictment for stealing a sum of money from 

his master, Dr. Racey, who proved the theft, stated that 
ha ving su~pected the prisoner, he said to him that, if he would 
return him his money, he would not move further in the mat­
ter, upon which the prisoner made an admission. The pri­
soner was then taken to the police station. A second witness, 
Robert Russel, proved that, while the prisoner was in the 
police station, having been questioned touching the matter, 

(1) See the evidence of Dr. Dube, as reported ante p. 224. 
(2) Roscoe'~ Evid. p. 43. 
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he had made a second confession. It is right to observe 

that the witness Russel was a person in authority, being 

then the Chief of Police, but he had neither threatened the 
prisoner nor had he made him any promise. The Chief 
Justice was of opinion that the confession made to Russel 

was admissible and sufficient to convict the prisoner. 

The decision of the Court at Kamouraska is manifestly 

analogous to the case of Cline. 

FOURTH POINT. 

That as to the prisoner Berube, there was no sufficient 
proof of his participation ;n the crime charged. 

After having thus answered the objections made to thf' 
admissibility of the hearsay evidence, aHJ of the evidence 
given by the boy Narcisse Theriault and by Dr. Dube, in 
relation to the confession of the female prisoner, it is neces­
sary that this fourth and last point should be examined in 
order to ascertain upon what evidence the Jury, who are the 
only Judges of the sufficiency or insufficiency of such evi­
dence, relied, in returning a verdict of guilty against both 
the prisoners. 

The first question to be solved was whether the deceased, 
Sophje Talbot, the first wife of the prisoner, had fallen a 
victim to poisoning. Now this important fact, indeed the 
principal one in the case, was proved beyond the possibility 
of a doubt by the evidence of five medical men. Their 
evidence is not conjectural, it is positive and corroborat~d 
by the presence of arsenic in the stomach of the deceased 
as ascertained by Doctor Jackson, by means of the Reinch 
test, and by Doctor Desjardins, who states in his evidence 
" I ' " . took one of t~ose sm~ll white points, I placed it upon a 

lIve coal and It remaIned solid and capable of beinO" 
" bl d· I:> crum e. Hence I mferred that it was a mineral sub-
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" stance." The presence of phosphorus in the stomach of 
the deceased was ascertained by a strong smell of garlic 
and went to confirm the opinion of the medical men: their 
evidence affords an opportunity of citing a judicious obser­
vation made by Roscoe: 

" Upon this subject (proving murder by poison,) in gene­
" ral it may be taken that where the testimonies of profes­
" sionalmen are affirmative, they may be safely credited, 
"but where negative, they do not appear to amount to a 
"disproof of a charge otherwise established by strong 
" and independent evidence." (1) Nevertheless it is object­
ed that there was no examination of the brain, or of the 
spinal marrow or oj the !teart, (2) again the small quantity 
of arsenic found in the stomach is ;·emarked upon, and 
lastly it is observed that the wife of Elie Gagnon had not 
identified the body of the deceased. It must be recollected 
however that Doctor Desjardins, who knew her well, having 
attended her during illness, recognized and identified hcr as 
well by the general cast of her countenance as by a scar which 
she bore upon her face. 

It is to be observed that the evidence of the medical men 
is corroborated in a remarkable manner by the confession of 
the female prisoner to Doctor DuM. (3) The Judge in 
commenting upon the evidence obscrved to the Jury that it 
was necessary to seek the proof of Berube's guilt, in 
the testimony of Narcisse Theriault, Genoffe Theriault, 
Philomene Boule and Jean Baptiste Morin. 

There is abundance of strong presumptive evidence to 
shew that the two· prisoners had a common interest in re­
moving the obstacle to their union; this presumption is ren-

(1) Roscoe on Evidence, 645 
(2) This is an omission of the reporter; the heart was examined, and found 

in its natnral state. 
(3) See Doctor DuM's evidence Suprd, page 227. 
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dered stronger by the fact that the body of the deceased had 
scarcely left the house to be carried to the place of interment 
when Berube brought the female prisoner to his house 
to take care of his children, and as shewn by the evidence of 
the physician having charge of the Gaol at Kamouraska, it 
must have been but a short time after the interment of the 
deceased, Sophie Talbot, that the female prisoner became 
with child which child was born in Gaol, and is not disa-, 
vowed by the prisoner. 

In order to understand the whole of the transaction, it is 
necessary to look further back. Joseph Berube, the prisoner, 
had a lot of land in the fourth range of Isle Verte; he had 
been residing there with his wife for a number of years, 
when some three or four years before the trial, which 
took place in November 1852, he undertook to clear a 
new land in the township of Viger, a distance of nine 
miles from his land in the fourth range; at that period, 
there was no other house in this settlement, but that of 
Augustin Theriault, the father of the female prisoner. Berube 
worked during the day upon his land, and in the evening 
he slept at Theriault's. Even at that period two witnesses, 
Edouard Pelletier, and Solomon Marquis, observed the prefer­
ence which the prisoner manifested for Cesaree The.riault. 
Pelletier says he had seen the prisoner laying across Cesaree 
Theriault's bed. Marquis states that the prisoner occasionally 
conversed with Cesaree Theriault and that he seemed to 
be fond of her. In 1851, the prisoner's late wife spent 
the summer upon the land of the fourth range, and her hus­
band worked at his establishment in the township of 
Viger. He would go down to the fourth range on Sa­
turday and would return on the Monday. One day, 
somewhere about the latter end of September, the deceased 
had gone to the township of Viger and had come down again; 
~he fell ill, " she complained and the next day she threw up, 
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" she then said that she had pains in her body and that she 
" was sick at the stomach, she was ill in this way, for some 
" three or four days." The witness, Felicite Pelletier, who 
relates these facts, says: "that after suffering for sometime 
" she would throw UP ; this continued for a couple of days; 
" the ensuing day or the third day, her husband came to see 

"her, she did not throw up in large quantities, it \v-as 
" phlegm more than anything else. I believe that about 
"a forth night afterwards she returned to the township." 

At that period, this new settlement consisted of the family 
of Augustin Theriault, the house of Joseph Berube, the 
prisoner, which was upon the neighbouring farm to The­
riault's, and on the other side was the house of Fabien 
Boule. Augustin Theriault's family consisted of Cesaree 
Theriault, the female prisoner, Genoffe Theriault, her sister, 
and of a boy of the name of K arcisse Theriault, the 
natural son of a woman of the name of Julie Ouellet, 
whom this child recognized as his mother, in the same way 
as he recognised Cesaree Theriault as his sister. There was 
living in the neighbouring house one Fabien Boule, his wife, 
Marceline Beaulieu, and their daughter Philomene Boule, 
who have all been heard as witnesses a:s well as Genoff'e 
Theriault and Narcisse Theriault. 

Genofie Theriault, in her evidence, states that preserves 
were given to the deceased; that she died the week after, 

and that these preserves had been given by the female 

prisoner, &c., &c. (1) 

There are two dis6nct facts, worthy of notice, in the 
evidence of the boy, Narcisse Theriault, (2) the first of these 
facts is the giving of a small box by the prisoner to the female 
prisoner at some given period which the witness is unable 
to indicate; the second is the statement he makes of what 

(1) See her evidence Suprd p. 215. 
(2) See his evidence Supra p. 220. 
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was said in his presence in relation to his mother Julie Ouellet. 
It is further to be observed that the child states that he in­
formed Genoffe Theriault of what had been said before him, 
in presence of Philomene Boule, and a child of Fabien Bonle, 
and that he also told his mother. It cannot be presumed that 
he was a long time before making these communications ; 
and in fact upon referring to the evidence of Genoffe The­
riault, (1) it will be found that in a conversation with her 
~ister, the female prisoner, she mentioned the statement 
made to her by the boy in relation to this box. 

Upon referring to the evidence of Philomene Boule, (2) it 
will be found that, among other things, she says: " Upon 
" the Wednesday preceding the death of Sophie Talbot, the 
"boy ~T arcisse Theriault, who is now about six years old, 
" stated to me and to Genoffe Theriault that the prisoner 
" had given a little red box to Cesaree Theriault, and that 
" he thought it was to poison his mother, Julie Ouellet." 

This evidence has been strongly objected to, notwithstand­
ing the authority to the cffect that "the declarations of a 
" witness at another time may be adduced to invalidate or 
" confirm his evidence by showing that he varies in his state­
" ments, or has maintained a uniform consistency in his nar­
" ration. (3) 

It is also to be remarked that in the conversations men­
tioned in this evidence, the one with the female prisoner, 

and the other with the prisoner, neither the one nor the other 
denies the statements made by the child to the effect that he 
~a~ seen the prisoner give a little box to the female prisoner; 
It IS true that she denied this in the first place,but admitted 
afterwards that she had got a box, but that it was a box of 
peppermints which her beau had sent her, which was proved 

(1) Suprd p. 216. 
(2) Suprd p. 216. 
(3) 1 Chitty's Criminal Law, 569. 
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to be false; Amable Ouellet or Ouellon, having been pro­
duced as a witness, denied the fact upon oath, at the same 
time admitting that he had paid attention to the female pri­
soner; with respect to the prisoner, he is first silent, and 
then secretly requests, that nothing may be said of the little 
box; this occurred on the Wednesday preceding the day 
upon which Genoffe Theriault took the preserves to the de-. 
ceased, and consequently before any suspicions existed 
against the prisoner. These precautionary measures of the 
prisoner, and the false statement made by the female prisoner 
show concert between them, in adopting means 10 prevent 
inquiry with respect to this mysterious box, of which the 
female prisoner was shortly after to make such fatal usc. 

It is manifest that the evidence of the boy, upon the two 
principal facts he was made to 'speak to, namely, the giving 
of the little box by the prisoner to the female pri"oncr, and 
as to the contents of the box, is fully corroborated; for it i" 
to be presumed that the chHd who stated the truth with 
respect to the giving of the box, must have done the 
like when he stated that they had said, that the!} wmztcd 

to make Iter die by poison. It is thereforc satisfactorily proved 
that when the box was given by the prisoner to the female 
prisoner, something was said of poison, and thio: proof is cor­
roborated by the false statements of the female prisoner, 
and the prisoner's request that nothing should be said about 
it. It is true that the boy understood that the intention 
was to kill his mother by poison ; but after events have 
shown that his mother was not in q nestion, but that the inten­
tion of the prisoners was to remove a person, vvho stood in 
their way, and who in fact was removed by poisoning. It must 
be recollected that it was the second day after, to\vards 
evening, that the female prisoner sent apple preserves to the 
deceased; that after eating of these in the evening, she fell 
ill the next day, which was a satmday, and that o:he died 
the wednesday following. It has been proved that there 
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were no apples or apple trees in the township, the settlement 

beinO' of too recent a date: then from whence came these 
I:> 

apples? The prisoner, upon his defence, proved by his ser-
vant, one Jean Bte. Morin, that the prisoner had given 
Morin money to purchase apples and molasses to make pre­
serves; this witness states that having bought these things he 
gave them to the prisoner, but that he has no knowledge that 
preserves were made with them. 

The witness resided upon the land in the fourth range; 
the preserves were made afterwards in the township. It is 
not proved anywhere that the deceased had asked for pre­
serves; it was merely said that preserves would be made for 
her. Why did not the prisoner get these preserves made at 
his own house, rather than at the house of his neighbour? 

The presiding Judge in commenting upon the evidence did 
not follow the order in "\yhich it had been produced. He in the 
first place read and remarked upon the evidence of the wit­
nesses, who proved the death of the deceased by poisoning,­
namely, the evidence of Marceline Beaulieu, Fabien Boule, 
Louis Caron, Jean Bte. Cote and Lambert Ouellet, part of 
the evidence of Drs. DuM and Desjardins and of Drs. 
Jackson, Marquis and Michaud. He then considered the 
testimony affecting the prisoners, abstaining however from 
mentioning the confession of the female prisoner until the 
conclusion of his remarks, observing to the jury, that if they 
were of opinion that the confession had been made by rea­

son of what had been said by Mr. Gauvreau to the female 
prisoner, they were bound to reject it, and to consider the 
case upon what had been proved, independently of the con­
fession in question, which amounted to nothinO' in so far as 

• I:> 
the.male pnsoner was concerned. That if they entertainea the 
opinion that the confession was a voluntary one and not 
made upon the suggestion of Mr. Gauvreau it ;as conclu-

) 
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sive evidence against Cesaree Theriault. Thi5 confession 

made to Dr. DuM is found in his evidence. 

It must be admitted that the proof as to Berube is entirely 
circumstantial, and that it may be viewed by some as having 
less weight than the evidence produced against Cesaree 

Theriault; but that was not the question. The matter really 

at issue was this, was the proof sufficient; now the jury 
were the sole judges of that question. If BeruM had claim­

ed his right to sever, he might have had a greater chance of 

escaping a condemnation, which has so justly overtaken him, 

for he would have been tried by another jury, before whom 

nothing could have been said of the confession of his fellow 
prisoner. However the Court and the jury had nothing to 
do with the mode of defence adopted by him. 

Considering this case with reference to the evidence pro­

duced and the various facts disclosed, it is not extraordinary 

that the jury should have declared Berube equally guilty 

with the female prisoner. 

The following quotation is deemed applicable to the case: 

" The accumulative strength of circumstantial evidence 
" may be such as to warrant a conviction since more cannot 

" be required than that the charg2 should be rendered highly 
" credible from a va:riety of detached points of proof, and 
" that supposing poison to have been employed, stronger de­
" monstrations could not reasonably have b~en expected 
" under all the circumstances to have been produced. (1) 

q) Loft Olj Gilberfs Evid. p. 352. 
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ARTICLE 3. 
A GENERAL REVIEW OF THE LAW AND THE FACTS OF 

THE BERUBE POISON CASE. (1) 
In offering you some observations on the above case, I 

may, perhaps, bc performing, in your estimation, a thankless 

office, as they may tend to renew the discussion of a subject 
already too much prolonged, and to provoke the thunders of 
ccrtalll journalists whose stricturcs have already so much 
enlightened the public. It may, however, afford some 
justification for trespassing upon your indulgence, that the 
EngliEh Pre~s~ which has so fully canvassed the subject, 
has never given to the public any English version of the 
evidence to enable them to apply the arguments advanced 
on either side. This first and important step has been 
overlooked; but as the accompanying translation has par­
tially supplied this desideratum, a fresh review of the whole 
case may not be out of place. 

Some of the writers have commented upon the regularity 
of the proceedings at the trial, in relation to the admissibility 
or inadmissibility of certain portions of the evidence, as 
disclosed in the published report of the trial in the news­
paper, Le Canadien; others upon the insufficiency of the 
evidence in the main features of the case and the incom­
pleteness of the medical testimony negatively considered. 
Certain newspapers have assailed the conduct of the ad­
minislratio r in this matter, as indicative of a settled policy 
to abrogate, indirectly, the death penalty, from which it is 
inferable that, i,l 1heir opinion, the facts per se did not justify 
1he application of the prerogative of the crown in favor of the 
condemned, and that the sentence of death ouO'ht to have 

b 

been carried into execution; and then, jaisant volte face, 
and in the same breath, they say that if the evidence was 
of such a nature as palpably not to warrant any conviction 

(1) Prepared for the,Quebec Gazette by a gentleman of the profession. 
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at all, (by which hypothetical if, they insinuate that such 
was its character,) the prisoners ought to have received a 
free pardon. 

The case is surely not so mystified as not to be sus­

ceptible of some clear and distinct view;-it must necessarily 
be classed under some one of the following: first, it was 
one in which the Law ought to have been allowed to take 
its course; or secondly, one in which the exercise of the 
prerogative was obviously called for, in order to temper 
justice with mercy by a commutation of the pnnishment, 
without reference to the nature or the degree of such com­
mutation; or lastly, it was one jn which, by reason that the 
accused had not had a fair trial, or that there was no evidence 
whatever to warrant a conviction, a free pardon ought to be 
granted. To those who are of opinion that the numerous 
commentators upon the Berube Trial, and the propriety of 
the commutation of the sentence, have each adopted one 
distinct, intelligible view of the case, followed up by a 
clear and consistent line of argument in illustration of such 
view, the following notice will be deemed a work of supere­
rogation. To those who have studiously' kept the public in 
the dark by arguing every possible contradictory phase of 

the case, any attempt at a plain analization of it will be 
highly distasteful, as being calculated to defeat their object. 
Not one of the various critics has taken a stand upon any 
well defined ground; yet in the judgment of every candid 
and impartial man, the conclusion to become to must be 
based upon some of the foregoing categories; it cannot in­
discriminately partake of all, and hence at once the ne­
cessity and the apology for inflicting upon your readers a 
few more observations on this already hacknied case. 

Joseph Bembe, a man of the age of forty-five, and Cesarec 

Tberi<j,q1t? his wife, of the age of fifteen or sixteen, arc 
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charged with the murder, by poisoning, on the 29th October, 
1851, of Sophie Talbot, the former wife of Berube. (1) 

The legality and admissibility of portions of this evidence 

have been very much criticised, on the grounds: 

1. That statements made by the deceased, while not under 
the apprehension of immediate dissolution, were allowed to 

be proved. 

2. That hearsay evidence was admitted. 

3. That the examination of a child, not conscious of the 

obligations of an oath, was permitted. 

Newspapers are not the proper channel for a full discussion 
of these points. Men of legal knowledge and. practical 
experience, after having made them the study of a life, re­

quire pages for their complete elucidation; it would require 
volumes to bring them down to the comprehension of or­
dinary laymen. Editors, whether lay 01' professional, forget 
that the Poet's advice as to the Pierian Spring is as ap 
plicable to a little law as to a little learning; and whether 

convinced 01' not, they consider it chivalrous to die game­
in error, rather tha'n to form an exception to the general 

obduracy of their class. Calling themselves the guardians 
of the lives and liberties of their fellow men, they yet hold 

the supremacy of the laws. and the purity of the admi­

nistration of justice as ever second, in their estimation, to 
the gratification of their political animosity. On questions 
of law and evidence we must be content with the con­
clusions of those who have written ex professo on the· 
subject. 

1. As to the first objection, it is based upon a total mis­
apprehension of the character of the evidence. There was 

(1) For the facts of the case, we refer the reader to the ~e!ected portjqll~ of 
the i~3timl)ny ill~luiled in O\ll' ~/lp<:lrt. [:E]dd 
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no question of " dying declarations" in the case; nono had 
ever been made-none were offered in evidence. 

2. The description given by the deceased of her sufferings, 
while labouring under disease and pain, is not deemed hear­
say evidence (1). "The expressions of a person affected 
" with bodily pain or illness, relative to his health and sensa­
" tions, have been considered to be in their nature original 
" evidence; such expressions being ordinarily the natural 
" consequence and the outward indication of existing suffer­
"ings. The representations of a patient to his medical at­
" tendant, who has an opportunity of observing whether they 
" correspond with the symptoms to which they refer, appear 
" to be entitled to greater weight than if made to an inex. 
"perienced person, and to afford a strongpr presumption 
"that tliey are genuine. But although not made to a 
" medical man, they appear to be admissible evidence. (2) 

" Words and writings appear, perhaps, more properly to be 
" admissible as part of the res gesta; when t~ey accompany 
" some act, the nature and object or motives of which are 
"the subject of inquiry. In such cases, words are re­
"ceivable as original evidence, on the ground that what is 
" said at the time affords legitimate, if not the best means of 
" ascertaining the character of ~mch equivocal acts as admit 
" of explanation, from those indications of the mind which 
"language affords. Fpr where words or writings accom­
" pany an act, as well as in the instances before considered 
"when they indicate the state of a person's feelings or 
"bodily sufferings, they derive their credit from the sur­
" rounding circuml:ltances and not from the bare expressions 
" of the declarant. And the language of persons at or about 
"the time of their doing a particular act, in the same 
" manner 3S their demeanor 01' gesture, is more likely to be 

(1) Philips and Amos, p. 201. 
(2) Ibid, p. 206. 

5 
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"a true disclosure of "vhat was really passing in their 
"minds, than their subsequent statements as to their in­
" tentions even if such statements would not be excluded 

" on other grounds." (1) 

" Whenever the bodily or mental feelings, of an individual 
" are material to be proved, the usual expressions of such 
"feelings, made at the time in question, are also original 
"evidence, and whether they were real 01' feigned, is for 
"the Jury to determine, •••••• .••••• So also the repl'e­
" sentations by such a person of the nature, symptoms and 
" effects of the malady under which he is laboring at the 
" time, are received as original evidence. If made to a 
" medical attendant, they are of greater weight as evidence, 
"but if made to any other person, they are not on that 

" account rejected." (2) 

3. The objection as to the admissibility of the child is one 
which does not so much depend upon positive authority as 
upon the discretion of the Judge after an examination of the 

witness. (3) 

" But in respect to children there is no precise age, within 
"which they are absolutely excluded on the presumption 
" that they have not sufficient understanding. At the age 
" of fourteen, every person is presumed to have common 
,'discretion and understanding unti.l the contrary appears, 
~, but under that age, it io; not so presumed; and therefore in­
"quiry is made as to the degree of understanding which 
"the child, offered as a witness, may possess; and if he 

" appears to have sufficient natural intelligence and to have 

(1) Greenleaf Ev. § 102, Hearsay. 
(2) Greenleaf E v. § 49, of the relevancy of E v. 

" " .. :: .................. :.: ..... But in .trialS by Jury, ~t i.s !l~e province of the 
" presldmg Judge to dete:,Ulne all ques.tlOns on the 2dmlsslbillty of evidence to 
" the. Jury, as well as to ms~ruct the~ m the rules of law, by wluch it is to be­
"weighed .. Y'lheth~r there IS any.evidence or not, is a question for the Jlll\ae ; 

whether It IS suffiCient eVidence, IS a question lor the Jury" '" 
(3) 2 Greenleaf, Section 367 p. 464.) • 
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" been so im;tl'l1cted as to comprehend the nature and effect of 
" an oath, he is admitted to testify, whatever his age may be. 

"This examination of the child, in order to ascertain his 
" capacity to be sworn, is made by the judge, at his discre­
" tion, and though, as has been just said, no age has been 
(, precisely fixed within which a child shall be conclusively 
" presumed incapable, yet, in one case, a learned judge 
" promptly rejected thc dying declarations of a child of four 
" years of age, observing, that it was quite impossible that 
" she, however precocious her mind, could have had that 

" idea of a future state, which is necessary to make such de­
" clarations admissible. On the other hand, it is not unusual 
" to receive the testimony of children under nine, and some­
" times even under seven years of age, if they appear to be 
"of sufficient understanding; and it has been admitted 
" even at the age of five years." (1) 

In the present instance, the answet·s of the boy Narcisse 

as reported, evidently shew a belief of punishment in 
another world as the consequence of a false oath. The 
degree of intelligence exhibited by him during his prelimi­
nary examination was matter for the consideration of the 
Judge. We must presume that it was sufficient, and the 

(1) 4 Black. Com: 214. "There is no determinate age at which the oath of a child 
" ought either to be admitted or rejected. Yet where the evidence of children 
" is admitted, it is much to be wished, in order to render their evidence credible, 
" that there should be some conCUl'rent testimony of time, place and circum­
" stance, in order to make out the fact: and that the conviction should not 
" be grounded, singly on the unsupported accusation of an iIlfant under years of 
" discretion." 

1. Phillips Ev: 20, after citing Blackstone, adds, "l.t seems. however 
" impossible to lay down any general rule on the subject applicable to 
" all cases. A person may be le"ally convicted on such evidence alone and 
" unsupported; and whether the" accou~t of the .witness requires to be corro­
" borated III any l'art, or to what extent, IS ~ questIOn .excluslvely for the Jury, 
" to be determined by them on a revIewal all the cIrcumstances of the case 
" and especially of·the mauner in which the child has given his evidence." 

, Roscoe, 144. "Subsequently all the Judges Il.gree~ th~t a child of .any 
" age, if capable of distinguishing between good and eVIl, mIght b~ examll1cd 
" upon oath, and that a child of whateve~ age could ~~t be exammed. u~less 
" sworn' this is now the established rule III all cases, cIvIl as well as cnmlllal, 
" and whether the prisoner is tried for a capital offence or one of an inferior 
" nature." 

5 '* 



68 

subsequent corroboration of his testimony by other witnesses 
relieves the point from any embarrassment. The weight to 
be given to his evidence was matter for the consideration of 
the Jury. Either they have given credence to his testimony, 
or they have deemed the case complete without it. 

These points disposed of, how stands the case? 

In the first place it is negatively and conclusively esta­
blished, from the whole tenor of the evidence, that no sus­
picion whatever attached to any other individual than the 
two prisoners. Then what are the facts of an incriminating 

and suspicious character given to the Jury upon which their 
conclusion must be presumed to be based? The death of 

Mrs. Berube occurs on the 29th October, 1851, after five 
days illness. The two prisoners interm8;rry two months 
after she is consigned to the tomb. On the 22d August fol­
lowing, Cesaree Theriault is delivered ofa full grown child, 
the paternity of which is not made a question, and the birth 
of which, in the ordinary course of nature, points significantly 
to the occurrence of a particular fact sometime between the 
16 and 22 November, 1851,-some five or six weeks before 

'the marriage, and less than a month after the death of the 
first Mrs. Berube. In the interval between her decease and 
the month of April following, suspicions of foul play having 
arisen, the body is exhumed on the 2d of that month and a 
post mortem examination is had under the direction of the 
Coroner. At the trial, four Medical men unhesitatingly 
depose that in their opinion her death was caused by poison. 
It is needless to dilate on this branch of the case, the evi­

dence was such that the Jury could not possibly doubt or 
disbelieve it, The important inquiry then comes to be, was 
this poison taken accidentally, or was it administered mali­
ciously, and if so, by whom was the foul act committed. 

As to the female prisoner, the admission voluntarily made 
by her, and proved to be without coercion or threat of any kind, 
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or the promise of any favour, and properly admitted in evidence, 
coupled with the other facts brought out in the case, place the 
matter beyond doubt. She prepares the poisoned apples; 
sends them unasked, with special and peculiar instructions 
for the use of the victim of the plot; she conceals the suspicious 
box and prevaricates about it repeatedly, marries the sus­
pected murderer, and when the affair explodes, and. a Warrant 
issues for her apprehension, she is found hidden in a heap 
of hay in a neighbour's barn, and confesses her crime. With 
such damning evidence, it would be a waste oftime,-an un­
warrantable reproach to the Judge and Jury, and an insult 
to common sense, to impugn the correctness of the verdict. 

Then as to the male prisoner :-The evidence in cases 
of murder by poisoning must ever be eminently of a circum­
stantialnature. Homicides by the discharge of fire arms, 
or the wound from a deadly weapon and the like, where 
death supervenes instantaneously, can be fully proved by an 
eye witness. The crime is begun and consummated, and 
the whole tragic scene passes t2 vue d'ceil. In such cases 
the fate of the slayer depends solely upon the credibility of 
the witness. Not so in cases of poisoning. The diabolical 
design is conceived and matured in secret. The deadly 
drug is generally administered hy some supposed friendly 
hand. It is not the result of an act -of violence, the commis­
sion or the consequences of which may transpire by accident. 
The death by poisoning constitutes the final and fatal ac­
complishment of a multiplicity of designs and little acts, 
formed and executed in the dark, and which might pass 
unobserved, were it not for the appalling denouement which 
crowns them. To expect that the conduct of the poisoner is 
to be marked in traces of blood, as in a case of murder by 
violence, established by circumstantial evidence, is to look 
for that which never can be had. The more difficult the 
nature of the proof, the more closely is every act and ex­
ptession of the accused to be scmmed. Even the most 
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frilling unexplained incident in hIs c011duct, 01 a natU1'e 1d 
i"::"ise a presumption or a suspicion of guilt, and fonning part 
of a great chain, is entLled to grave consideration. In the 
present instance, the absence of any effort whatever on the 
part of BerubS to prevent a fatal termination to his wife's 
illness, whilst it was his bounden duty, and that he had it in 
his power to mal·:e strenuous exertions to that end, rises in 
judgment against him. In September, 1851, he is i11 quest 
of arsenic to poison rats where none existed ;-he declines 
taking Smith's Extenninat01', which is expressly prepared 
for th,at purpose, because it is too dear ;-the price was twenty 
pence ! Hc brings a small box resembling that containing 
Smith's Exterminator, to the female prisoner, when there is 
no one in the house with her but a child, and speaks of 
killing some one by poison. The youth of the witness, though 
it weakens his testimony, tends to confinn it in this, that it 
accounts for Berube's want of caution in communicating his 
instructions to his accomplice. He is proved to have em­
ployed his servant, residing some miles from his own 
house, to purchase apples and molasses for him in the 
beginning of October, for the purpose of making preserves 
for his wife; which, however, he never brings to his house, 
nor even procures to be made, unless they be those proved in 
the case as the medium for conveying the poison which was 
to end her days. There were none to be had at Theriault's, 
and no one knows where else they came from. His ac_ 
complice makes apple preserves at a brook distant about an 
acre and a half from her father's house, in which last she 
certainly might have made them more conveniently. It is 
not often we hear of preserves being made in the fields in 
the cold season at the end of October, and within a stone's 
throw of a dwelling house. During the process of making 
the preserves, he passes by the brook without speaking to, or 
even appearing to recognize his future wife. The preserves 
are sent to his house by the female prisoner, with directions of 



71 

a singularly precautionary character, for the use of the un­
foitunate invalid, who did not expect them, who had 'never 
solicited them; and '\vhen she expresses to him her very 
natural surprise at this act of gratuitous attention, he infers 
an insinuation on her part, which her words do not certainly 
convey, and exclaims: "Do you think they would be 
"wicked enough to put any thing in them which could 
"harm you!" Some dust or filth is said, though not seen, 
to have got, no one knows how, into the bowl containing the 
preserves, which he professes to remove by inserting his 
own soiled fingers into them, and this little pantomine ter­
minates by the sick woman desiring that they should be 
thrown away. The bowl was then in his hands, having 
taken it from his wife's, and he then casts away that small 
but important remnant, which would have gone far to 
establish his innocenco, or rivet his guilt. After eating of 
the preserves she becomes seriously ill, with violent and 
continued reaching, severe bowel complaint, and spitting 
and vomiting of blood, for which, instead of sending for a 
medical man, he procures and administers hot rnm pnnch 
which he prepares himself, having something else in his 
hand which he puts into it, and then gives it to the suffering 
invalid. During the five days of her severe and painful 
illness we do not hear much of him; he appears not gene­
rally to have been absent from the house, but is not often in 
attendance at the sick bed; but whenever it is necessary to 
prepare hot rum punch for a woman vomiting blood, or to 

superintend the disposal of an insignificant and valueless 
quantity of innocnons apple preserves, he is evcr the 
presiding genius. On the last evening of her life he is away, 
knowing that she is dying, and leaves her to the tender care 
of her neighbours. He professes to go in quest of a minister 
of religion, but calls at Boule's, who was at his own house, 
and twice at Theriault's to ascertain the honr,-ttn important 
inquiry in the breast of a man whose bosom paliner for 
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fifteen years was. about to bid adieu to him and to the 
world. He probably dislikes deathbed scenes. He travels 
some miles to commission another person (probably none of 
his immediate neighbours, would have gone!) to fetch the 
priest; but having the good fortune to be surrounded by persons 
whom !lis severe affliction does not deprive of their pre­
sence of mind, they despatch a messenger 10 meet the 
Priest, (though n06ne but himself could be procured to go for 
him on the near approach of the closing scene,) to inform him 
that it is too late, in order no doubt to save him the fatigue of 
a short journey and the pain of beholding a dead body. It 
was perhaps just as well that the Priest should not be sent 
for until it was too late; and then of what use was it that be 
should see the body aftei· death ?-Priests are dangerous 
witnesses; they sometimes possess a knowledge of me de cine, 
and are generally quick sighted and deeply conversant 
with the springs of human action. During his wife's illness 
the future Mrs. Berube is not seen but once at the sick bed, 
but is a frequent visitor while her remains are still lying at 
the house. On the day of the funeral, after the body has 
started for its final resting place,· she returns, and Berube, 
who still lingers there, converses a good deal with her, but is 
not heard. He tells her, however, that he is about to proceed 
downwards for the funeral and begs of her to take care of 
his children, who happen respectively to be of the ages of 
eleven, twelve and thil'teen. On the wednesday preceding 
the Saturday on which his wife is taken ill, he is asked, by the 
witness Philomene Berube, lc1wt was tltat box which he had 
given to Cesaree TMl'ianlt. lIe makes no answer, but some­
time afterwards, on meeting the witness, he takes her aside 
and desires her not to speak oj that box to anyone. After his 
wife's death, he is asked if it was true that he had poisoned her 
as people said; he makes some kind of ans\ver which is not 
heard and hangs down his head. He is then informed that 
Germain Talbot had said at his (the prisoner's) father's 
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house that the preserves which Cesaree Theriault had sent to 
the deceased had completely turned her stomach (lui avait 
tombe sur le eCBut'.) Cesaree Theriault is there, and is silent. 
He is afterwards present at an interview between the said 
Germain Talbot and Augustin Theriault, the father of the 
female prisoner, in which the latter holds out threats to 
Germain Talbot, and forbids his speaking of the poisoning oj 
his sister, and menaces him with a criminal prosecution. 
Berube then says: "We must have him taken up," and on 
being afterwards asked by Talbot what he meant by these 
words, he says: I mean that you are not to spread that 
report-"as little as possible." '" If you do, it will be a bad 
job for you, (9a n'im pas bien.) Add to this, not the shadow 
of a su~picion is attempted to be fastened, even by the priQ 

soners, on any other individual. 

During the trial, not a sil~gle solitary redeeming fact of 
trait is brought out in favor of Berube. On the contrary his 
unfortunate wife is dangerously ill during five days; he 
makes no attempt to procure medical aid, not even the con­
solations of religion, until he knows it is too late; and before 
her dead body is consigned to the tomb, he installs his par­
amour in the place which the former so recently held, as the 
protectress of his children. He is in direct terms accused of 
her murder in presence of his accomplice; he hangs down 
his head-and site is silent! 

Such are the circumstances brought out in evidence against 
the elder prisoner, enveloping him in a web of damning 
facts, unpierced by a single gleam of innocence, or a doubt 
of guilt. 

If this then be the evident conclusion derived from a mere 

perusal of the evidence, with what show of reason or justice 
can we ul1cienate or impeach the judgment of those who 
possesscd the incalculably superior advantage of hearins· the 

• (Sic.) 
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evidence, and scrutinizing the demeanor ot the witnesses, as 
they uttered their testimony. If the discllssion of this case 
in the public prints could be believed to have been con­
ducted with a single eye to the discovery of truth, and with 
an unbiassed desire to shield twO human beings from the 
dread sentence of the law, under a strong and sincere con­
viction of their innocence, or even their insufficiently as­
certained guilt, the task would be eminently praiseworthy. 
But the party writers, who have labored to give the case so 
much notoriety, have neither the eandour to admit, nor the 
tact to cOllceal, that their sole aim is to vilify the constitu­
tional advisers of the Governor Generi:tl for having extended 
mercy to the condemned. They impugn the conduct of the 
judge and the jury for acts done by them in the conscientious 

discharge of a solemn public duty. They calumniate the 
Administration for having advised a commutation of the 
punishmcnl, ascribing their decision to a settled deter­
mination to abolish the death penalty, without reference to 
the justice or injustice of each particular case.; and while 
they are thus so very lavish of their abuse, they do not 
attempt, nor deem it at all necessary to attempt any review 
of the proceedings calculated to convince a single individual 
outside of the little pandemonium in which their clumsy 
strictures have been concocted, either that the case was one 
utterly destitute of evidence to sustain the conviction, or that 
it was devoid of any circumstances calculated to prevent 
these two individuals from expiating their atrocious crime 
on the scaffold. At one time, they would seem to uphold the 
regularity of the proceedings, the sufficiency of the evidence 
and the justice of the verdict, and they cry aloud for the blood 
of the convicts; at another-they anathematize the witnesses, 
the judge and jury, and demand a free pardon for these much 
injured victims of judicial and ministerial persecution, and 
insist that instead of being sent to the Penitentiary, they 
ought to be re~tored to liberty, and the greetings of that COffi-
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have been so harshly expelled! ! 

This latter notion they found Up011 the fact of certain ap­
parently inadmissible evidence having been received at the 
trial. This plea is altogether untenable. Were it practL 
cable under our system to have reserved the case for the 
opinions of all the Judges, as in England, the conviction in 
the present instance, could not have been set aside upon such 
ground, as ruled in the case of Reg. vs. Ball, R. R. c. c. 133, 
The Judges there said: "Whether the Judges, on a case 
" reserved, would hold a cC'1Viction wrong, on the ground 
"that some evidence had been improperly received, when 
" other evidence had been properly admitted that was suffi. 
" cient of itself to support the conviction, the Judges seemed 
" to think, must depend on the nature of the case and the 
" weight of the evidence. If the case were clearly made 
"out by proper evidence, in such a way as to leave no 
" doubt of the guilt of the prisoner in the mind of any reason­
" able man, they thought that as there could not be a new 

" trial in felony, such a conviction ought not to be set aside, 
" because some other evidence had been given which ought 
" not to have been received; but if the case, without such 
" improper evidence, were not so clearly made out, and the 
" improper evidence might be supposed to have had an effcct 
" on the minds of the jury, it would be otherwise. The 
" conviction in this case was held right." 

But the Berube conviction was not brought under tIlt' 
revision of all the Judges to be tested on the strict rules of 
law and evidence; it was submitted to the deliberate con­
sideration of the Representative of the Sovereign, the fountain 
as well of justice as of mercy, for the purpose of determining 
whether such portions of the evidence, though not very ma­
terial, may have influenced the minds of the jury and opened 
the door for a commutation of the extrr'lile penalty of the 
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law. Where, then, is the individual in the community who 
under such circumstances, would impute it as a crime 
or a blunder to His Excellency or his advisers, that on the 
smallest doubt being raised on this head, they applied a 
principle which is invariably observed in the administration 
of English crimil1'l.l justice, by leaning to the side of 
mercy and giving the prisoners the benefit of that doubt. In 
any ca:se, however, those who inveigh against the decision of 
the Ministry ought to tell us, whether their act be obnoxious 
to the charge of being too lenient or too sanguinary. While 
they labour from day to day to excite public indignation 
against them, these writers omit to state on which side the 
Ministry have erred; whether they ought to have allowed 
the executioner to do his work, or to have let loose upon 
society two individuals of whose guilt no unprejudiced mind 
could entertain a doubt. The propel' regard due to the tribunals 
of the country, the purity of the administration of criminal 
justice upon which our lives and our liberties depend, and 
the policy and the wisdom of holding out a salutary example 
as a warning to evil doers, are, in the opinion of these 
writers, ever second to the gratification of their spleen 
and their hatred towards their political opponents. Without 

caring one straw for the fate or the feelings of the unfor· 
tunate Leings who are the objects of their hollow sympathy, 

they continue to buoy up their hopes at the expence of 
tmth, justice and public morality. Instead of endeavour· 
iug to induce an acquiescence in the justice of their 
sentence, some remorse for their crime, and a sense of 
gratitude for the mercy extended to them, the manifestations 
of which coupled with good conduct hereafter, could alone 
insp ire any just hope of a further remission of the punishment, 
these sapient expounders of the law prefer keeping up a 
perpetual agitation of the question for political purposes, 

even though it should harden the guilty against repentance, 
and incite the wicked to the commission of further crimes. 
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To conclude-let all the circumstances of the crime and 
the trial of the Berubes be considered in whatever light they 
may, and however conclusive the evidence against the male 

prisoner may be deemed, the guilt of the female prisoner, as 

established at the trial, is undoubtedly, relatively speaking, 

more fully ascertained than that of her older accomplice. 

Then, upon such a case being brought under the review of 

the authorities, coupled with the objections made to certain 

portions ofthe testimony, which were entitled to consideration 

with 1'espect to Berube, though not as regards the other pri­

soner who had confessed her crime, what was, I ask, the 

sure and obvious course to be pursued! What course would 

these writers have recommended under such circumstances? 

To pardon or commute the sentence of the elder convict? To 

permit him who was the sole instigator of the foul crime, and 

who had perseveringly and remorselessly brought it to a guilty 

consummation-to go scathless, and to send his unfortunate 
dupe, a young woman of the age of sixteen, to the scaffold, 

Such a dispensation of mercy would have been met with one 

shout of indignation from one end of the Province to the 
other. On the other hand-immediately to have granted a free 
pardon to one legally and justly convicted upon her own 
confession, of the crime of murder, and to another also con­
victed of the same crime, and who, although he did not 
confess, was infinitely the greater criminal of the two, 
would have dealt such a blow to the administration of 
criminal justice, and would have been such an outrage upon 
common sense and decency, as no man would have dared to 
defcnd. Every individual in society capable of forming an 
opinion, whose judgment is not warped by egotism, vanity 
or party spirit, and who brings his mind to bear upon 
the subject with calmness, and an honest desire to arrive 
at a fair and impaltial conclnsion, must know and in his 
heart believe, howevel' much he may pertinaciously assert 
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the contrary, that the course adopted by the Governor Ge_ 
neral under all the difficulties of the case, was at once the 
most wise and the most just, and assuredly the most humane, 
and that any other course would have been obnoxious to the 

most serious objections. 

If I have thus attempted a review of the Berube case and 
of the propriety o[ this commutation, you are not to suppose 
that I have done so [or the purpose of defending the adminis­
tralor of the Govcrnment or his advisers. I have nothing to 

do with 1111'111, nothing to say to them. 1 know not and care 
not whether my ohservations be palatable to them or not; I 
know not and ('arc not what was their view of the case, nor 
what the motives which actuated them. [am bound however 
to suppose they coincide with those which I have att.ributed 

to them and by which alone I ean suppose any man to be 
govcrned whose heal; and head are in the right place. 

R. 
Quebec, February, 1853. 




